

College of Veterinary Medicine
Comparative Biomedical Sciences
Graduate Program Handbook

## **Table of Contents**

Cha	apter 1. General Information	5
A.	Introduction	5
B.	Graduate Program Handbook	
C.	Graduate Program	
D.	Levels of authority of the Graduate School, CVM Council for Graduate (CFGS), and the Advisor	
E.	College of Veterinary Medicine Graduate Program	
F.	Graduate Faculty	
	apter 2. Admissions Procedures & Requirements	
A.	Procedures	
B.	Entrance Requirements & Procedures	15
	apter 3. Graduate Studies Guidelines	
A.	Initial Registration	
B.	Advisor	
C.	Graduate Student (GS) Advisory Committee	
D.	Academic Program	
Ε.	Graduate Associates and Fellows	
F.	Research Program	
G.	Research Support	
Н.	Animal Use	
l.	Laboratory Safety	
J. K.	Training in the Responsible Conduct of Research	
Cha	apter 4. Master's Degree Program	25
A.	Program Description	
л. В.	Master's Degree Committees	
C.	Course Work & Progress Towards Degree	
D.	Research Program	
E.	Non-Thesis MS	
F.	End of Semester Option	
G.	Teaching Opportunities	
СНІ	ECKLIST: MASTER'S DEGREE	
Cha	apter 5. Doctor of Philosophy Program	
A.	Program Description	
B.	Graduate Studies Advisory Committees	
C.	Course Work & Progress Towards Degree	
D.	The Candidacy Examination	
Ε.	Research Program	
F.	Teaching Opportunities	
CHI	ECKLIST: DOCTORAL DEGREE	42

Chapter 6.	Combined Degree Program	43
Chapter 7.	Transfer into CVM Graduate Program	<b>4</b> 4
	yon Procedures	
Chapter 8.	Appendices	46
Appendix A:	Grievance Procedures Guidelines	47
Appendix B:	Suggested Graduate Courses	48
Appendix C:	CVM Graduate Faculty	50
Appendix D:	MPH Course Information	55
Appendix E:	Leave Guidelines	55
Appendix F:	Useful Links	58
	Graduate Student & Faculty Advisor Memorandum of	59
Appendix H:	Comparative Biomedical Sciences Graduate Program Review Fo	orm 64

## **Annotation of Changes in 2023-2024 Version**

1. For the MS and PhD degrees there is a reduction of required graded credits or units from 20 to 10. This is to help accommodate the increase in S/U courses.

## **Chapter 1. General Information**

## A. Introduction

The College of Veterinary Medicine (CVM) Graduate Program is uniquely positioned to prepare professional and graduate students for careers in basic, translational, clinical, and applied medical research. In the 1960s the concept of "one medicine" was advanced to combat zoonotic diseases affecting animals and humans. This vision has progressed to become "one health" in recognition of the broader implications of the close interactions, interconnectivity, and commonality between humans and animals.

## **B. Graduate Program Handbook**

This handbook is designed to be an informative and concise resource for students and faculty of the Graduate Program of the College of Veterinary Medicine. The handbook describes policies and procedures for administration of the program and is in compliance with the policies established by the Graduate School of The Ohio State University. The Ohio State University Graduate School policies regarding admissions are published in bulletins available from the Graduate and Professional Admissions Office, Student Services Center 281 W. Lane Avenue, Columbus, Ohio 43210 and on-line at <a href="http://gpadmissions.osu.edu">http://gpadmissions.osu.edu</a>. The Graduate School Handbook (abbreviated GSH herein) is available from the Graduate School, 250 University Hall, 230 North Oval Mall, Columbus, OH 43210. The website for the Graduate School contains additional information as well as electronic copies of the GSH and other important forms at: <a href="http://www.gradsch.osu.edu/">http://www.gradsch.osu.edu/</a>. Graduate students and their faculty advisors are responsible for being aware of all current policies, rules, and procedures.

**Note:** Students participating in residency programs should also refer to the residency handbooks for specific questions about residencies and non-academic issues and activities related to their training.

## C. Graduate Program

The graduate studies in the College of Veterinary Medicine are divided into five paths.

## 1. PhD and MS program

Research leading to either the PhD and/or MS is supported by graduate faculty of the CVM. Competitive applicants will have completed a BS, MS, or DVM degree. Applications are submitted directly to the university Graduate and Professional Admissions office. Application requirements and procedures are

described in Chapter 2, and MS/PhD program requirements are described in Chapters 4, 5, and Appendix C.

## 2. Combined Residency/MS Program

This course of study is designed for DVMs who are selected for residency training programs in the Department of Veterinary Preventive Medicine (Laboratory Animal Medicine, Wildlife and Ecosystem Health). Applications for residency programs are submitted to the residency program coordinator of the appropriate department, and the name of the applicant accepted into the residency program will be forwarded to the College Graduate Program Coordinator for coordination of the separate graduate school application. Requirements for the MS can be found in Chapter 4. With support of the student's graduate advisory committee, individuals have the option of continuing their research beyond the MS to a PhD program following completion of the residency portion of the program.

### 3. Combined Residency/PhD Program

This course of study is designed for DVMs who are selected for residency training in the Veterinary Clinical Pathology and Veterinary Anatomic Pathology programs through the Department of Veterinary Biosciences. Applications for residency programs are submitted to the residency program coordinator of the appropriate department, and the name of the applicant accepted into the residency program will be forwarded to the College Graduate Program Coordinator for coordination of the separate graduate school application. Requirements for the PhD can be found in Chapter 5.

### 4. Combined DVM/MS Program

This course of study is designed for individuals enrolled in the DVM professional degree program who are interested in simultaneously pursuing research leading to the MS degree. Applications are submitted to the College Graduate Program Coordinator. The requirements of the MS are described in Chapter 6. Students, with the help of their research advisers, must submit a course plan to their advisory committee for approval. Six (6) semester course credits may be counted towards both the DVM and MS degrees, provided that the respective courses are designated as a G (Graduate) and V (Veterinary) course. Students should be aware that completion of the MS program may require extra time (1 to 2 semesters) after completion of the DVM degree. With support of the student's graduate advisory committee, individuals have the option of continuing their research in order to defend a PhD dissertation following completion of the DVM.

#### 5. Master of Public Health

Although not a part of the CVM graduate program, the Master of Public Health (MPH) program with the specialization in Veterinary Public Health is jointly administered by the Department of Veterinary Preventive Medicine and the College of Public Health. Applications are coordinated through the School of Public Health. More information is available at <a href="http://www.cph.osu.edu/prospective-students/how-to-apply">http://www.cph.osu.edu/prospective-students/how-to-apply</a> and in Appendix E.

# D. Levels of authority of the Graduate School, CVM Council for Graduate Studies (CFGS), and the Advisor

## 1. Graduate School

All graduate programs at The Ohio State University are sanctioned and abide by the policies of The Ohio State University Graduate School. The Graduate School publishes the Graduate School Handbook referred to in Section B above. This publication contains the policies, rules and procedures that apply to all graduate students enrolled at the University.

#### 2. Council for Graduate Studies

Each graduate program establishes a graduate studies committee referred to in this document as the Council for Graduate Studies (CFGS), to ensure that the policies of the Graduate School are administered appropriately and to provide specific policies to govern the CVM Graduate Program. As stated in the Graduate School Handbook (Section 14), the Graduate School sets the minimum standards within which the various graduate studies committees establish their own policies, rules and procedures. As defined in its charter (Patterns of Administration, CVM) the CFGS is authorized to define additional rules, etc. providing they do not conflict with those of the Graduate School.

#### 3. Graduate Faculty Advisor

Any Graduate Faculty member or group of Graduate Faculty serving as advisor(s) for a graduate student may specify additional requirements (including specific courses or course areas) so long as they are in compliance with Graduate School and CFGS rules. Any such additional requirements must be in writing and the graduate student must be made aware of these requirements before beginning their course of study.

#### 4. Areas of Specialization

The CFGS within the CVM may identify an official area or areas of specialization within the graduate program following the guidelines of the Graduate School for establishment of a Graduate Specialization and upon approval of the Graduate School. With the approval of the advisor and the CFGS, a student may select an approved area of specialization. At the request of the student and the CFGS, specializations will be posted on the Ohio State permanent record in addition to the name of the graduate degree program. Example: Comparative Biomedical Sciences with specialization in Epidemiology.

## E. College of Veterinary Medicine Graduate Program

- 1. The Graduate Program reflects the broad scope of disciplines as they apply to Comparative Biomedical Sciences, which includes teaching and/or research in anatomy, cellular and molecular biology, microbiology and immunology, anatomic and clinical pathology, pharmacology and physiology, virology, epidemiology, veterinary public health, food safety, population medicine and herd health, anesthesiology, cardiology, dermatology, radiology, equine medicine, food and fiber animal medicine, equine surgery, small animal surgery, neurology and neurosurgery, oncology and hematology, ophthalmology, small animal medicine, camelid medicine and surgery, nutrition, equine ambulatory, emergency & critical care, and theriogenology. Graduate training in these areas of study is available under the mentorship of the Graduate Faculty of the College.
- 2. The Graduate Program offers areas of study leading to the MS and PhD degrees with flexibility that allows students and faculty to customize academic programs with careful guidance toward attainment of career goals of the student. DVM graduate students may pursue graduate studies in combination with training in preparation for certification by American Veterinary Medical Association recognized specialty boards.
- 3. The College provides scientific and academic expertise, facilities in which to perform original research, and opportunities for development of teaching, writing and critical thinking and analytical skills for students accepted into the Graduate Program. In return, the College expects students to conduct themselves in a scholarly manner abiding by the academic principles of scientific rigor and intellectual honesty. Students are therefore expected to strive for academic excellence and to participate fully in the College teaching, research, and service missions.

## F. Graduate Faculty

1. The University has a separate Graduate Faculty that is a subset of the general faculty. Newly hired faculty are not automatically members of the Graduate Faculty but are appointed to that status. Membership in the Graduate Faculty is required for any faculty who will serve on master's and/or doctoral examining committees, or act as advisor to master's and/or doctoral students. There are two levels of Graduate Faculty membership approved by the University: Category M (for master's) and Category P (for doctoral), designating the level of graduate student advising for which a faculty member has authorization. Regular (appointments at fifty percent time or more) tenure-track faculty and research faculty, with the rank of assistant professor or above, are eligible for appointment as Category M Graduate Faculty. Regular clinical faculty are eligible for appointment as Category M Graduate Faculty. See the Graduate School handbook for authorized overall functions for Graduate Faculty.

## 2. Service of Non-CVM Graduate Faculty on Graduate Student (GS) Advisory Committees

- a) Graduate Faculty status in the CVM is not necessary to serve as a co-advisor or as a member of the GS Advisory Committee for CVM graduate students.
- b) If a faculty member from outside the college wishes to serve as the main advisor to a CVM student, a formal request for admission to the CVM Graduate Faculty must be submitted to the CVM Council for Graduate Studies as outlined below in section 3b.
- c) If a faculty member wishes to serve on a CVM student's GS Advisory Committee and is not a member of the Graduate Faculty, they may be appointed to the committee as an additional member by approval of the CFGS and by petition to the Graduate School. Their membership on the committee does not count toward the required minimum committee members as set forth in the Graduate School Handbook. Their membership does count toward any higher standard that CVM sets for committees, as shown here:
  - Master's Degree Committee: The Graduate School requires 2 members, CVM requires 3. The non-Graduate Faculty member may serve as the 3<sup>rd</sup> member.
  - ii. PhD Committee: The Graduate School requires 3 members, CVM requires
     4. The non-Graduate Faculty member may serve as the 4<sup>th</sup> member.
  - iii. Candidacy Exam Committee: Graduate School requires 4 members, CVM requires 4. The non-Graduate Faculty member may serve as a 5<sup>th</sup> member.

#### 3. Admission of Graduate Faculty

- a) Regular Ohio State tenure-track faculty from outside the college may apply for membership to CVM Graduate Faculty. The approval of a non-CVM faculty as a member of the CVM Graduate Faculty carries no additional salary and does not imply a change in professional title. The purpose of such membership is to provide complementary expertise in any specific discipline of the program that will strengthen and broaden the graduate program either through research or teaching substantial portions of departmental graduate level courses.
- b) An approval from the CVM Council for Graduate Studies is required before a faculty member outside the CVM can be granted Graduate Faculty status in the CVM Graduate Program. To be considered for Graduate Faculty status, the faculty member will submit the following to the CFGS:
  - A curriculum vita including a current record of research funding and graduate training.
  - ii. A cover letter stating the purpose of the application.

c) The CFGS will review the application and make a recommendation to the Graduate School. The newly appointed faculty member must accept and abide by the procedures outlined in the CVM Graduate Handbook.

#### 4. Category M or P

The CFGS is responsible for processing applications for Category M or P status. The CFGS appoints Category M Graduate Faculty members and notifies the Graduate School of its actions. The CFGS submits nominations for Category P membership on the Graduate Faculty to the Policy and Standards Committee of the University Council on Research and Graduate Studies (Graduate School) and certifies by appropriate documentation that those nominated meet published university-wide guidelines. In addition, the CVM Graduate Program has established specific policies for a faculty member to be nominated as a Category P Graduate Faculty member.

### 5. Guidelines for Nominations to Category M and P Graduate Faculty Status

a) Category M Status: Eligible faculty seeking Category M status must submit appropriate materials (see Chapter 1, F, 3b above) that document fulfillment of required qualifications (listed below) to the CFGS chairperson. The CFGS will review these materials to assure that all guidelines and criteria are met. CFGS approval of the Category M applicant will be made by majority vote of the CFGS. The CFGS chairperson will notify the faculty and Graduate School of its actions.

The eligibility and qualifications of persons considered for nomination will be reviewed according to the following criteria. Eligible faculty approved for Category M status must document <u>each</u> of the qualifications listed below.

- Eligibility: Academic appointment: Professors, Associate Professors, and Assistant Professors who hold appointment as a regular tenure-track, clinical track or research track-faculty member.
- ii. Education and Experience: MS degree or higher (or equivalent degree including professional medical degree (i.e. DVM, VMD, MD, DO, or DDS)) with documented research training and experience including a minimum of 1 first or senior author publication (peer-reviewed) in the last 3 years.
- b) Category P Status: Eligible Graduate Faculty seeking Category P status must submit appropriate materials (see Chapter 1, F, 3b above) that document fulfillment of required qualifications (listed below) for Category P status to the CFGS chairperson. The CFGS will review these materials to assure that all guidelines and criteria are met. CFGS approval of the Category P applicant will be made by majority vote of the CFGS. The CFGS chairperson will forward the appropriate documents and forms to the Graduate School for final approval of Category P status.

The eligibility and qualifications of persons considered for nomination will be reviewed according to the following criteria. Eligible faculty approved for Category P status must document <u>each</u> of the qualifications listed below.

- i. Eligibility: Academic appointment: Professors, Associate Professors, and Assistant Professors who hold appointment as a regular tenure-track or research track-faculty member. Clinical track faculty are not eligible to receive P status, per OSU Graduate School rules. Non-PhD individuals holding other faculty or instructor titles may also be considered on a caseby-case basis.
- ii. Education and Experience: PhD (or equivalent degree) or DVM, VMD, MD, DO, DDS (or equivalent professional medical degree) with documented research training and experience. Individuals requesting P status who have a professional medical degree should also possess a graduate degree or other equivalent experience, such as training as a postdoctoral researcher, or a residency at the NIH.
  - The applicant should have experience as an Advisor for a MS student or a co-Advisor for a PhD graduate student who has completed their degree requirements or should have served on a Doctoral Advisory Committee of a graduate student who has completed their degree requirements.
- iii. Qualifications: Active Program in Research the most readily available evidence of research productivity is publication in scholarly journals. The publication record should reflect both active (e.g., average of 2 peer-reviewed publications per year during previous three years) and continuous productivity (e.g., scholarly publications over course of career) in the area of the research specialty.

#### c) External Faculty

i. For individuals who are not Faculty Members at The Ohio State University, but who wish to serve on masters or doctoral examination committees, the College will follow the Graduate School policies. Approval by the Graduate School is granted upon special petition by the CFGS, outlining the special qualifications and expected contributions of the proposed committee member.

#### 6. Maintaining Graduate Faculty Status in the College-wide Program

In order to maintain P status, a faculty member must engage in at least two of the following activities within the past 5 years\*. In order to maintain M status, a faculty member must engage in at least one of the following activities within the past 5 years\*.

- a) Serve as an advisor and/or co-advisor to one or more graduate students in the program.
  - i. Note that annual progress reports must be submitted documenting fulfillment of mentoring responsibilities (i.e., annual committee meetings are documented and there is timely completion of the PhD candidacy examination and prompt reporting of independent study grades). Failure to do so can result in loss of graduate faculty status\*\*.
- b) Serve on a candidacy or dissertation advisory committee for a student in the program.
- c) Serve as an advisor to a Master's in Public Health (MPH) student or serve as a mentor for a CVM summer research program student.
  - i. These activities are not formally part of the graduate program, although they are aligned. Veterinary MPH students train in the same environment as CVM graduate students and focus on the graduate education of veterinarians is common to both. The summer research program serves as a recruitment tool for graduate education, with approximately 25% pursuing graduate education subsequent to (and sometimes concurrent with) their DVM program.
- d) Actively support CVM Research Day through judging of student posters or reviewing abstracts as part of the selection process for student speakers.
- e) Participate in review of graduate student applications for fellowships (e.g. through the Barber Fund or Genentech Veterinary Pathology Fellowship).
- f) Moderate the graduate student seminar series (applies only to CVM regular faculty).
- g) Participate in recruitment events.
  - i. This primarily applies to the combined pathology residency/PhD program and includes meeting with externs and applicants to the program.

\*This aspect of maintaining status is designed to ensure that the faculty understands the program (through active participation in its implementation). Participation in graduate coursework (beyond the seminar series) is not included since much of that activity does not provide insight to the program as a whole. Many of these courses engage a small subset of the total and may not even enroll students in our college-wide graduate program.

- \*\*This aspect of maintaining status is designed to ensure that the advisor is fulfilling their responsibilities as a mentor in addition to responsibilities to the program.
- 7. The CFGS will periodically review the Graduate Faculty Status of the CVM faculty, regardless of TIU (i.e. inside or outside of the CVM). If changes in the current status appear necessary, these recommendations will be discussed with the individual faculty member. Faculty that fail to demonstrate required activities

(for maintaining M or P status) will be put on probationary status with one year to correct, after which status is lost. Reinstatement is possible.

# Chapter 2. Admissions Procedures & Requirements

#### A. Procedures

1. Depending on the path through which the student wishes to enter, they should contact either the College Graduate Program Coordinator (PhD, MS, Combined DVM/MS) or the departmental residency program coordinator (Combined residency with PhD/MS). Those students applying to the combined residency programs will have to follow separate procedures prior to completing the application to the Graduate School.

NOTE: For applicants to the residency programs, transcripts, test scores, letters of reference, curriculum vitae, and letters of intent are first submitted to the respective departmental residency program coordinator, or through the MATCH program at <a href="https://www.virmp.org">www.virmp.org</a>.

- 2. Applicants applying to the MPH Program Specialization in Veterinary Public Health should contact the College of Public Health for more information about using the SOPHAS system to apply. More information can be found at <a href="http://cph.osu.edu/prospective-students/how-to-apply.">http://cph.osu.edu/prospective-students/how-to-apply.</a>
- 3. In order for an application to be considered official, all applicants must submit an on-line application and pay an application fee at: http://www.gradadmissions.osu.edu
- 4. The CVM Graduate Program will abide by the minimum entrance requirements established by the Ohio State Graduate School admissions office. Refer to the Graduate School Handbook for general admission criteria of the University.
- 5. Official test scores and official copies of <u>all academic transcripts</u> should be sent to the Office of Graduate Admissions. The mailing address can be found at: <a href="http://gpadmissions.osu.edu/help/contact-us.html">http://gpadmissions.osu.edu/help/contact-us.html</a>. Individuals should use the correct address depending on the type of application and type of mail.
- **6.** Other materials including recommendation forms, recommendation letters, curriculum vita, a "Letter of Intent" and all other required application materials may be uploaded as part of the application. The Letter of Intent should be 1-2 pages long and describe the applicant's background, current interests, and future professional goals. Letters of recommendation should be from persons capable of judging the academic abilities of the candidate and their ability to be successful in graduate school (e.g., former teachers, professors, etc.). The letters of recommendation must be on official institutional stationary of the person making the recommendation.

## **B. Entrance Requirements & Procedures**

- 1. A Bachelor's degree or higher in an area relevant to the CVM Graduate Program is required for admittance. Students who entered a DVM program after 3 years of undergraduate coursework and obtained early admission to veterinary school will be considered on a case-by-case basis. A Doctorate of Veterinary Medicine or related professional degree from a certified college or university may be required for some program specialties. Official transcripts from each college or university attended must be sent directly from these institutions.
- 2. A cumulative undergraduate and/or professional grade point hour ratio at or above the minimum 3.0 on a scale of 4 (A=4, B=3, C=2, D=1), and a cumulative grade point hour ratio of 3.3 on a scale of 4 for all previous graduate coursework is required. The Ohio State Admissions Office will carry out the necessary computations and conversions. Under rare circumstances, students who do not have these minimum GPA requirements may be considered if there is compelling evidence of the individual's potential for success in graduate studies that is not reflected in the GPA. In this case, admittance would entail a petition to the Graduate School and may be a conditional admit with conditions recommended by the CFGS.
- **3.** Foreign applicants must meet the Graduate School Admissions requirements for the Test of English as a Foreign Language (TOEFL) or similar test (<a href="http://gpadmissions.osu.edu/intl/english-proficiency">http://gpadmissions.osu.edu/intl/english-proficiency</a>).
- **4.** Applicants are not required to submit official GRE scores to be considered for admission, unless the applicant's undergraduate GPA is below 3.0. If an applicant's GPA is below a 3.0, they will be required to submit official GRE scores with their application. Applicants who submit GRE scores should have a minimum GRE with a verbal score higher than the 25<sup>th</sup> percentile and a quantitative score at or greater than the 50<sup>th</sup> percentile. These requirements may be adjusted and applicants should contact the CFGS chair or Graduate Program Coordinator for updates. If the student has a GPA below a 3.0 and has not taken the GRE, a letter may be submitted to the CFGS to waive the requirement. This must be submitted to the CFGS prior to final approval of admittance to the Graduate Program.
- **5.** Supporting recommendations, on special forms provided by the Ohio State Graduate Admissions Office, from three individuals familiar with the academic work of the applicant should be provided. The letters of recommendation must be on official institutional letterhead of the person making the recommendation, or be submitted through the on-line application process to be verified as official by the Graduate Program Coordinator.

  NOTE: Students applying to the combined residency and graduate programs
  - NOTE: Students applying to the combined residency and graduate programs may submit their recommendation letters through the residency match program to the respective departmental residency program coordinator.

- 6. Course prerequisites: In rare circumstances, a student may be conditionally admitted and be required to meet defined coursework requirements during the initial period of the student's course plan. The advisor or advisory committee for the student will define these course requirements upon the request of the CFGS or based on the requirements of the advisor and the requirement will be communicated to the CFGS.
- 7. Unless the applicant is entering a residency program, it is required that they have identified a faculty member who is willing to serve as their advisor and who can provide financial support. The CFGS recommends admission to the CVM Graduate Program based on the applicant's capabilities and the ability of the graduate faculty to meet the student's needs. A faculty member must be available and willing to provide guidance in the student's specific area of interest. To gain final admission/acceptance into the program, the Graduate Student and Faculty Advisor Memorandum of Understanding form (see appendix G) must be completed by the student and advisor. For residency programs that require admission to the CVM MS or PhD program, the residency program director or the department chair may offer positions to applicants for the residency program; although, these offers are not official until the CFGS has confirmed that the applicant meets the entrance requirements for admission to the CVM graduate program.
- **8.** Students who have been admitted into the CVM MS program may be eligible to transfer into the CVM PhD program. A new application to graduate admissions is not required. For consideration, the student must have above a 3.3 in their CVM MS program and must submit the following for review by the CFGS:
  - a) A written statement indicating goals and plans for pursuing PhD.
  - A written statement from the student's intended advisor which demonstrates a commitment to mentor the student and a source of financial support for the PhD.
  - c) Submit the Request for Transfer of Graduate Program form to the Graduate School via GradForms.

## **Chapter 3. Graduate Studies Guidelines**

## A. Initial Registration

- 1. The student's advisor will help organize the student's program. Details on the mechanics of registration can be found in the current announcements of the Graduate School.
- 2. Course load: The number of credit hours attempted each semester is mutually determined by the student and advisor in consultation with the student's advisory committee. Course loads for full-time students range from 8 to 12 credit hours per semester. However, the course load is determined by the nature of the courses taken and the student's academic record and employment plans. A student may not enroll for more than 18 credit hours per semester, exclusive of audit courses, without advisor approval. For full-time graduate students as defined in this section (below), the procedure for petitioning to enroll in fewer credit hours than required is listed in the Graduate School Handbook. The following are specific requirements based on typical appointments in the CVM Graduate Program.
  - a) Students holding the titles of *Graduate Fellow* regardless of the source of funds, must register for a minimum of 12 credit hours for each semester the appointment is held.
  - b) Students holding the titles of *Graduate Associate* (GA; Graduate Teaching Associate or Graduate Research Associate) with 50% or greater appointments must register for at least eight (8) credit hours/semester, except in the summer, when four (4) credit hours are scheduled. Gas holding a 25% appointment must register for at least four credit hours/semester except in summer session when the minimum is two.
  - c) Students in PhD programs who have completed their candidacy exams are not expected to register for more than three (3) graduate credit hours per semester. These three credit hours may be chosen by the student and their advisor. In most cases, students should register for at least one (1) credit hour of CVM 8999. Students should discuss with their advisor and petition the CFGS if they wish to register for more than three (3) hours.
  - d) International students are required to register for a minimum of eight (8) credit hours per semester except in summer session, when the minimum is four, unless they hold appointments as fellows or trainees, or unless they are post-candidacy.
  - e) Students on different HR titles may be subject to different registration requirements. Students working in a staff position while completing their degree, such as Postdoctoral Scholar, Research Associate, Resident, etc, may register for a maximum of 10 credit hours per semester. Students should contact their advisor or the Graduate Program Coordinator for advice for their individual situation.

## **B.** Advisor

- 1. The graduate program is oriented toward a close working relationship between the graduate student and advisor. The advisor has the responsibility of overall coordination of the course of study and research of the graduate student, advising the student in the conduct of scientific research, evaluating and promoting effective writing and oral communication, and monitoring the progress of the student (see the Graduate Student & Faculty Advisor Memorandum of Understanding, Appendix G and GSH Appendix H). The advisor will share with the student the responsibility of planning and directing the research. Each of these plans will be subject to approval by the advisory committee. The advisor will chair all committees set up to plan, review, assess and examine the student's progress through the program.
- 2. It is ultimately the student's responsibility to ensure that requirements are fulfilled before examinations are scheduled, that all deadlines are met, and all required forms are delivered to the Graduate School. Failure to meet deadlines may result in deferment of the degree.
- 3. Change of Advisor: Although a student's interests may change during the course of the graduate experience, a change of advisor usually results in a considerable loss of time and effort and leads to delays in the graduate program. A student, or advisor, may petition the CFGS in writing at any time for a change in advisor. The CFGS will act on these requests once each semester. Information on official change of advisor status will be transmitted to the Graduate School.

## C. Graduate Student (GS) Advisory Committee

- The responsibilities of the GS Advisory Committee are to provide advice regarding the overall academic and research program of the student and to assist in the evaluation of progress in both of these aspects of the graduate program.
- 2. Annual review of graduate school performance will be coordinated with annual review of residency training, for those who are in combined residency/graduate programs. Evaluator(s) of the residency performance need not be a member of the students' graduate advisory committee.
- 3. Each student must have a GS Advisory Committee consisting of the advisor, who serves as Chair of the committee, and at least two Graduate Faculty members for the Master of Science program; or the advisor and at least three Graduate Faculty members for the Doctor of Philosophy program. The Graduate School may be petitioned to allow one non-Graduate Faculty member to participate on a student's committee. The exception is the PhD Candidacy Examination Committee, which requires four Graduate Faculty members. Students may

include non-Graduate Faculty, but only in excess of the required four. The student, in consultation with the advisor, should choose committee members based on their ability to provide expertise complementary to the student's area of interest. This committee must be selected by the end of the first year in the program. The CFGS must be notified in writing of the composition of the committee during the Graduate Student Annual Review process. Any proposed changes in the committee should be submitted in writing to the CFGS for approval.

4. Each student in good academic standing (Cumulative GPA is greater than 3.0) is required to be evaluated at least annually, preferably biannually, in a meeting with the GS Advisory Committee. Students and their advisors and committees will participate in the online Graduate Student Annual Report and Review process that takes place each December. The completed form is returned to the CFGS, which reviews the information to ensure that both the advisor and the student are fulfilling their responsibilities. The completed form becomes a part of the student's permanent record. Students placed on academic probation (CGPA < 3.0) are monitored and counseled by the Graduate School, the advisor, and the CFGS Chairperson, until they are either returned to good academic standing or dismissed from the program.</p>

## D. Academic Program

1. Student and advisor must plan a program of study toward an advanced degree and submit it to their Advisory Committee for approval. The Advisory Committee may be asked to assist in planning the academic program (i.e., course plan). The Academic Program should be submitted to the student's Advisory Committee no later than their 1<sup>st</sup> year advisory committee meeting and prior to the annual review. The student's course plan/ schedule should be submitted to the CFGS in conjunction of the first online annual review.

## 2. This program should include:

- a) Student's goals
- b) Course schedule
- c) Tentative teaching responsibilities, if any
- d) Clinical responsibilities, if any
- e) Signatures of each of the GS Advisory Committee members

## 3. Transfer of credits and/or waiver of requirements:

 a) Waiver for specific course or program requirements on the basis of work accomplished prior to entry into the CVM Graduate program must be approved by the CFGS.

- b) Entry into the doctoral degree program with a prior MS from another institution may count as up to 30 credit hours toward the 80 hour requirement, but will not automatically eliminate any other requirements.
  - i. The CFGS and the Graduate School should be notified that 30 credit hours for an MS or other transfer credits are being claimed. The student must initiate appropriate transfer credit forms, which are available through the GradForms. These forms are to be reviewed and signed by the CFGS Chair upon examination of official transcripts provided in the student's file. Credits should be transferred at the time the student is admitted but no later than the end of the second semester of enrollment in the Graduate School. The Graduate School will make final approvals of transfer credits. See also Graduate School Handbook, section 4.1
  - ii. Transfer of more than 30 credit hours requires specific approval by the CFGS.

## E. Graduate Associates and Fellows

## 1. Definition, Credit Hours, Funding, Renewal:

- a) Many CVM Graduate Students will be hired as Graduate Associates. CVM Graduate Associate (GA) titles are Graduate Research Associate (GRA) and Graduate Teaching Associate (GTA). Students must be in good academic standing in order to hold a GA position. Fellows must register for at least 12 (twelve) credit hours per semester while GAs are required to register for at least 8 (eight) credit hours. Students who have passed candidacy only need to register for 3 (three) credit hours in order to maintain full-time status. Registration recommendations are discussed more in the next section.
- Appointments for students are renewable one-year agreements, and may be initiated in any semester of acceptance (Autumn, Spring, or Summer).
   However, students entering with the Autumn class at the beginning of the funding cycle will have the greatest opportunity to receive fellowship funding.
- c) The CVM follows University guidelines for stipend levels.
- d) Under normal circumstances, students in the MS or PhD CVM graduate program will not be permitted to self-finance graduate school stipend, benefits, and tuition. Self-finance is defined as funding of graduate stipend, benefits, and tuition from personal resources and does not include fees paid by foreign governments. Under unique circumstances, applicants and their intended advisors may petition to the CFGS to allow the student to selffinance their education.

For students who are not admitted into the residency program, the student's advisor is required to show the source of funding for the stipend, tuition and fees of incoming graduate student prior to final acceptance. Funding sources should be adequate to cover these costs for the time-to-completion period typical for the graduate path the student is enrolled. Consideration will be given to grant renewal opportunities and alternative funding sources. Typical times are:

Path	Time to Degree
MS Degree	2-3 years
PhD Degree	4-5 years

- e) Funds for graduate student stipends are available on a limited basis from the Ohio State Graduate School, which offers Graduate Fellowships for beginning students and Presidential fellowships for outstanding students in their final year. Funds may also be available from off-campus sources such as private foundations, federal agencies, the pharmaceutical industry, etc. Regardless of the source of their financial support, all students must conform to College and Graduate School policy, are expected to participate fully in all aspects of the Graduate Program, and will be evaluated accordingly. Students should be aware that their HR title and the associated benefits may change throughout the course of their graduate studies, and the students should be aware of changes before accepting a position.
- f) Full-time students may not pursue outside employment unless that employment enhances the educational experience of the student. In such instances, the student must delineate the learning objectives that are anticipated from the employment opportunity, and an evaluation process must be defined in order to document success in achieving those learning objectives. Requests must be evaluated and approved by the student's Graduate Advisory Committee. Cases or questions about outside employment may also be referred to the CFGS for review or advice.

NOTE: Full-time DVM residents are not permitted to practice veterinary medicine in any capacity during the course of their residency outside of the duties and responsibilities towards the university as defined by their specialty service. Residents are not permitted to provide paid external consulting services to industry, businesses, foundations, boards or other groups during the course of their residency. Residents may provide paid Continuing Education lectures and presentations during their residency, but these services are subject to approval by the Specialty Service Head and the Department Chair.

g) The CFGS in collaboration with the Graduate Faculty and CVM Associate Dean for Research and Graduate Studies are responsible for establishing criteria for appointment, evaluation, and requests to deny registration of

- graduate students. The Ohio State Graduate School makes final decisions regarding dismissal of graduate students.
- h) Students will be evaluated for reappointment based on progress as documented in the online Graduate Student Annual Report and Review process that takes place each December.
- A graduate student's stipend must be forfeited if the student either is dismissed from the program or fails to meet the requirements associated with receiving the stipend.

In addition to the termination criteria outlined in the Graduate School Handbook, grounds for dismissal from the Graduate Program include:

- i. Fabrication or deliberate falsification of research data.
- ii. Improper use of research animals.
- iii. Illegal activities such as theft, improper use of drugs, or malicious destruction of property.
- j) Students who are dissatisfied with their treatment in the Graduate Program are encouraged to register their complaints with the Chairperson of the CFGS or CVM Associate Dean for Research and Graduate Studies. If the problem cannot be resolved, and a student wishes to file a formal complaint, grievance procedures established by the University Council of Research and Graduate Studies will be followed. A copy of these procedures is included in Appendix A of this handbook.

## F. Research Program

The graduate student in consultation with the advisor is responsible for formulating the Research Proposal and circulating it to the Advisory Committee. The proposal should include a testable hypothesis and be sufficiently detailed so that the suitability of the topic and availability of equipment and resources can be assessed prior to any significant investment of time or effort by the student. The Advisor and the Advisory Committee are responsible for ensuring that this procedure is initiated by the 3<sup>rd</sup> semester following admission into the doctoral program and by the 2<sup>nd</sup> semester in the master's program. A 1-2 page synopsis of the proposed research plan should be attached to the annual review form and submitted to the CFGS during the respective year via the online annual review.

## G. Research Support

Graduate students and advisors are encouraged to seek continuing sources for research funding from extramural sources (e.g., USDA and NIH fellowships). The advisor and the student's Advisory Committee will assist the student with proposal preparation. The process of proposal writing by the graduate student should be

designed to enhance critical thinking and promote effective scientific communication skills.

### H. Animal Use

- 1. Animals cannot be used for any purpose without an approved protocol. Research animals are purchased and housed through the University Laboratory Animal Resources (ULAR). Animal research in the CVM must conform to guidelines established by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services and outlined in the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals. A copy of the guide is available in the administrative and department office and can also be found online at <a href="https://www.nap.edu/read/5140">https://www.nap.edu/read/5140</a>. The Animal Use Committee for The Ohio State University (IACUC) and in some instances for the College of Veterinary Medicine (clinical research conducted in the hospital) review animal use protocols and assure that these guidelines are followed. Graduate students who fail to follow these guidelines can be dismissed from the graduate program.
- 2. No student or faculty may work with animals in any way until they have completed the short training program on animal use presented by the Ohio State University Laboratory Animal Resources (ULAR). Those courses are to be taken on-line and more information is available at <a href="http://ular.osu.edu/training">http://ular.osu.edu/training</a>.

## I. Laboratory Safety

To meet Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA), State of Ohio, and University standards, radiation, laboratory and chemical safety classes are required of all graduate students who work in laboratories in the College. These courses are offered through the Department of Environmental Health and Safety. The student's advisor in compliance with a Chemical Hygiene Plan will determine if other additional laboratory safety courses are required. More information can be found at <a href="http://ehs.osu.edu">http://ehs.osu.edu</a>. New graduate students are advised to contact Employee Health to register for an Animal Handlers Services exam at <a href="https://rf.osu.edu/secure/ochre/">https://rf.osu.edu/secure/ochre/</a>.

## J. Training in the Responsible Conduct of Research

1. Graduate students in the CVM Graduate Program, in addition to all faculty and staff eligible to conduct research at the university, are required to be trained in the proper conduct of research. To meet this requirement of Ohio State and the CVM, the Office of Responsible Research Practices provides web-based instruction on the Responsible Conduct of Research (RCR). RCR training is through the Collaborative IRB Training Initiative (CITI) RCR modules (<a href="http://orc.osu.edu/regulations-policies/rcr/">http://orc.osu.edu/regulations-policies/rcr/</a>). RCR focuses on the responsibilities of scientists in the conduct of research

- 2. Additional training in responsible conduct of research should include policies to deal with potential conflict of interest by researchers at Ohio State. The U.S. Public Health Service has issued regulations designed to ensure that faculty, graduate students, and postdoctoral researchers associated with universities avoid conflicts of interest if they engage in research funded by federal agencies. The State of Ohio also has several statutes concerning conflict of interest situations, specifically Sections 102.03 and 2921.42-43 of the Ohio Revised Code. The Ohio State University has developed a Conflict of Interest Policy for Research that addresses both the federal and state requirements.
- **3.** Graduate students are encouraged to obtain additional training for the proper conduct of research through the use of departmental seminars and a variety of journal clubs throughout the University that periodically devote discussions to topics of research integrity.

## K. Annual Student Report & Review Process

The graduate student annual review process occurs each December. Students are to complete an online annual progress report. Key points to be included in the annual progress report include: program type and start date; advisor and committee members; date(s) of last committee meeting(s) held; research plan; completion of required courses and training such as statistics, research seminar and CITI RCR; candidacy exam completion date or expected completion date; anticipated graduation date; grants and awards; presentations; and, publications. The annual progress report will be reviewed and approved by the student's advisor and committee members. Advisors will also complete graduate student annual evaluations on their students. The completed forms are returned to the CFGS, which reviews the information to assure that the advisor, committee and student are fulfilling their responsibilities and that students are making reasonable progress based on their stage in the program.

## **Chapter 4. Master's Degree Program**

## A. Program Description

The Master's Degree (MS) gives students the opportunity to gain additional knowledge and necessary skills in a field of study offered by the CVM Graduate Program. The MS degree program is designed to train the student in specific research skills and other scholarly activities in their field of study.

The MS degree program introduces students to the scientific method and to some of the statistical and laboratory techniques with which to apply it. Under the guidance of an experienced advisor, the student performs research, completes a coherent pattern of courses, critically analyzes the results of their research project and learn to write in a manner acceptable to major journals in the discipline. The MS degree in the CVM Graduate Program culminates in a Master's Examination, submission of a first-authored research publication to a peer-reviewed journal with or without preparation of a thesis.

A successful MS student is expected to accomplish a line of investigation that leads to one or more quality publications submitted to peer reviewed scientific journals. It is normally expected that this publication will be a first-authored by the student. Specific accomplishments that constitute a defensible thesis do not conform to any generic metric. Suitability is determined by the GS Advisory Committee and the student, emphasizing the importance of regular and open communication within the group.

## **B. Master's Degree Committees**

- 1. GS Advisory Committee: Assembling the GS Advisory Committee is an extremely important part of the graduate student's program and should be formed by the end of the student's first year in the program. The GS Advisory Committee shall consist of the student's advisor and at least two additional members of the graduate faculty. The Graduate School may be petitioned to allow one non-Graduate Faculty member to participate on a student's committee. This committee must officially approve both the student's academic plan and research plan.
- 2. Master's Examination Committee: The members of the student's GS Advisory Committee usually serve also as the Master's Examination Committee. Members must be approved as Graduate Faculty Category M or P. The Graduate School may be petitioned to allow one non-Graduate Faculty member to participate on a student's committee. This committee will conduct the Master's Examination with the advisor serving as Chair.

## C. Course Work & Progress Toward Degree

- **1.** Academic Standards: A 3.0 graduate cumulative point hour ratio must be maintained.
- 2. Credit Hours: A minimum of 30 graduate credit hours are required for graduation. Of this, 10 credit hours must represent formal graded (A-E) course work at Ohio State. For students transferring to Ohio State from an external institution, up to 6 graded course hours may transfer to Ohio State and count toward the student's degree. New students should work with their advisor and the Graduate Program Coordinator to complete the necessary paperwork in order to transfer the appropriate graduate credit. Students enrolled in the combined DVM/MS program are allowed to double-count 6 credit hours towards both the DVM and MS degrees, provided that the courses are designated both as G (Graduate) and V (Veterinary).
- **3.** Annual Review: Students will be evaluated for reappointment based on progress as documented in the online Graduate Student Annual Report and Review process that takes place each December.
- **4.** Time Limit: The entire work for the master's degree must be completed within five calendar years and should be completed within three years. A student who has not been registered for two consecutive semesters must petition the CFGS for approval to continue, which then must petition the Graduate School to reactivate the student's academic status

#### 5. Formal Course Work

- a) All students in the CVM Graduate Program will be required to successfully complete (grade of B or better) 2 credit hours of graduate level statistics. NOTE: Students participating in residency programs should also refer to the residency handbooks for specific questions about course requirements and recommendations.
- b) Enrollment in a college-wide Research Seminar Course (VPM 8891) is required for Autumn and Spring semesters when the student (other than Combined DVM-MS and resident-MS students) does not have another course essential to their graduate program which conflicts with the seminar. Any such conflict should be communicated by email to the CVM Graduate Program Coordinator prior to the first seminar of the semester. In addition to enrollment each semester, all Non-DVM/MS students are required to present a seminar at least once in this course during their graduate program (a 20 minute seminar; usually the term of graduation). The seminar is expected to be a presentation of the student's research unless otherwise discussed with the course leader. Combined DVM-MS students are required to enroll in the course at least one semester during their graduate program and they are required to present final results of their research (20 minute seminar) during this course. Clinical resident-MS students are required to enroll and successfully complete the seminar course during each Autumn or Spring

- Semester of their graduate program and present their research at least once as a 20 minute seminar (usually the term of graduation); students are encouraged to attend during other semesters as their schedules permit.
- c) When a graduate student enrolls in a course, they are expected to attend all classes, participate fully in lectures and laboratory exercises, and complete all projects and reports on time.

#### 6. Thesis Research Course Credit

Master's degree students should take either VETBIOS/VETCLIN/VETPREV 7193.01, or 7193.02 (Individual/Independent Study) to obtain credit hours for their thesis research activities. 7193.02 is a graded course, and the student and advisor must submit a course approval request to the CFGS a minimum of 4 weeks prior to the first day of the semester that the course will be offered (the request form can be found on the college website under graduate studies (https://cvmcommunity.osu.edu/documents/165). For their research credits, MS students should register for 7193.01

## 7. Transfer and Residency Credit

- a) For students who are transferring from another institution or doing work with another institution, a minimum of 24 graduate credit hours must be completed at The Ohio State University.
- b) Students must be registered for at least 3 credit hours and must submit the electronic Application to Graduate Form (<a href="https://gradforms.osu.edu">https://gradforms.osu.edu</a>) to the Graduate School no later than the third Friday of the semester in which graduation is expected. The application is valid for that semester only. The student must have met all other requirements for graduation by the end of that semester.

## D. Research Program

#### 1. The Master's Thesis

- a) The MS degree is awarded, in part, based on the completion of a thesis in the CVM Graduate Program. A non-thesis MS degree is available to students in any department that are enrolled in the CVM MS program, pending approval by the student's advisor and CFGS committee.
- b) A student must submit a draft of the complete thesis to the Master's Examination Committee two weeks prior to the date of the Master's Examination. Approval of the thesis draft by the Master's Examination Committee is required prior to the Master's Examination.
- c) The thesis is to be submitted electronically to the Graduate School by the required deadline. Refer to the following web site for more information: <a href="https://gradsch.osu.edu/completing-your-degree/dissertations-theses/format-review-and-submission">https://gradsch.osu.edu/completing-your-degree/dissertations-theses/format-review-and-submission</a>.

- d) A successful MS student is expected to accomplish a line of investigation that leads to one (or more) quality manuscript to be submitted to a peer reviewed scientific journal. It is expected that this publication will be a first-authored research manuscript prepared by the student.
- e) The thesis must conform to the Ohio State Graduate School format requirements described in the Graduate School Guidelines published by the Ohio State Graduate School.

#### 2. Presentation of Seminar on Research

All students are expected to present a seminar on their research on a regular basis, at least annually. This seminar may be a presentation and discussion of a research proposal, preliminary data or the final results of his or her research in venues such as lab meetings, research seminars, and national/international conferences. Each master's candidate is required to present a final defense seminar of the results of his or her thesis in an open seminar. Whenever possible, this is to be presented prior to the final oral examination/defense.

#### 3. Master's Examination

- a) The Master's Examination is a final comprehensive examination to test the student's knowledge of the field and to defend his or her thesis. The examination is to be conducted in accordance with the rules defined in the Graduate School Handbook.
- b) The Master's Examination may be administered only after approval of the draft of the thesis and not later than two weeks before commencement.
- c) The Master's Examination is usually an oral exam, but may include a written portion. It is conducted by the Master's Examination Committee with the student's advisor serving as chairperson.
- d) The advisor is responsible for arranging the examination.
- e) Attendance at the oral examination will be restricted to the student and members of the Master's Examination Committee and the examination may not exceed two hours.
- f) The advisor and committee are responsible for certifying the results of the Master's Examination by approving the electronic Report on Final Examination.
- g) The decision of the Master's Examination Committee must be unanimous. Each examiner indicates judgment by approving the electronic Report on Final Examination. In the event of an unsatisfactory judgment, the Master's Examination Committee must decide whether the student will be permitted to take a second Master's Examination and must record that decision on the Report on Final Examination. If a second examination is held, the Master's Examination Committee would normally be the same as the original one. If circumstances warrant, however, a substitution or substitutions on the

committee are allowed, but must be approved by the Dean of the Graduate School. A second unsatisfactory judgment constitutes dismissal of the student from the CVM Graduate Program.

#### 4. Curricular Requirements

- a) Students pursuing the MS must meet the following minimum requirements:
  - i. No more than 6 hours of graduate credit can be transferred from another institution
  - ii. At least 10 credits must be letter-graded (not S/U)
  - iii. No more than 8 hours of research credit (courses numbered 7193.01, 7193.02, 8999) can be applied to the 30 credits total
- b) Letter-Graded Graduate Courses (minimum 10 credits required)
  - i. VCS Resident Graduate students must enroll in the following
    - (a) VETPREV 8891 Graduate Student Seminar (1 credit) three times during the course of their graduate program
    - (b) Statistics (minimum of 2 credits) with a grade of B or higher.

## E. Non-Thesis MS

#### 1. Non-Thesis Option

- a) The non-thesis MS can be selected by students in any department that are enrolled in the CVM Graduate MS program, pending approval by the student's advisor and the CFGS. Students cannot apply directly to the non-thesis option at the time of application to the MS program. A written request to enter the Non-Thesis option must be submitted by the student to their advisor no later than the end of Spring Semester of their 2<sup>nd</sup> year in the program. Students must indicate the rationale for pursuing the non-thesis Master option which should be included in a Letter of Support from the student's graduate advisor. A Letter of Understanding must also be provided from the residency program coordinator if applicable. Submissions must be sent to the Graduate Program Coordinator for review and approval by the CFGS.
- b) Students undertaking the non-thesis option will be required to meet all the same curricular and first-authored research publication submission requirements as students in the thesis option, and are subject to all published Graduate School policies, academic program requirements, and individual residency program requirements.

- c) All students are required to present their research as a public oral presentation and then to orally defend their work before their Master's Examination committee.
- d) Students utilizing this option must indicate on their Application to Graduate that they are utilizing the Non-Thesis Option.

## F. End of Semester Option

If a student applies to graduate by the posted deadline but is unable to meet either the examination deadline or the document deadline for the semester, they are eligible for the End-of-Semester option. Students who complete degree requirements by the End-of-Semester deadline will be awarded their degree/diploma at the following semester's Commencement and the student would not have to register or pay fees for the semester in which the degree is actually received.

## **G. Teaching Opportunities**

Teaching is a unique opportunity to fortify formal training and to gain the self-confidence necessary for future academic growth. Students with a graduate assistantship may be assigned to assist in departmental core courses in the CVM. Teaching assignments to a core or elective course will be made by faculty course leaders in consultation with the department Chairpersons and the advisor. NOTE: University policy prohibits students from receiving graduate credit for courses taught by graduate students.

# CHECKLIST: MASTER'S DEGREE PROCEDURES AND REQUIREMENTS FOR GRADUATION

Ц	expected.
	Submit an electronic Application to Graduate form to the Graduate School no later than the third Friday of the semester (or third Friday of summer term for summer graduation) in which graduation is expected. ( <a href="https://gradforms.osu.edu">https://gradforms.osu.edu</a> )
	Complete a minimum of 30 credit hours, at least 24 of which must be completed at The Ohio State University, and 10 of which must be graded A-E.
	Complete 2 credit hours of graduate-level statistics with a grade of B or better.
	Complete the CITI Online RCR Training course.
	Prepare a first-author manuscript for submission to a peer-reviewed journal.
	Earn a graduate cumulative point hour ratio of at least 3.0.
	Present a defense seminar on your thesis results during the Graduate Student Seminar series or at another appropriate time.
	Satisfactorily complete the Master's Examination no later than two weeks before commencement. The Master's Examination is taken in the semester in which graduation is expected. To take the examination earlier requires permission of the Graduate School.
	Complete electronic submission of the approved thesis to OhioLink by the published deadline for the semester or summer session of graduation. Pay fees at the Student Service Center or at the Graduate School.
	Complete the Comparative Biomedical Sciences Graduate Program Review Form found in Appendix I.
	Ensure receipt of final grades in the University Registrar's Office by the published deadline.

## Chapter 5. Doctor of Philosophy Program

## A. Program Description

The doctoral degree program in the CVM Graduate Program provides students the opportunity to achieve a high level of scholarly competence and to contribute to fundamental and new knowledge in their field of research. The program consists of a logical course plan, a variety of educational experiences in the laboratory and classroom, a Candidacy Examination, a dissertation, a first-authored research publication accepted, in press or published in a peer-reviewed journal, and a Final Oral Examination. Under the guidance of the advisor, students are expected to conceive and test original ideas. A research plan is developed and presented by the student to the GS Advisory Committee for input, discussion, and approval. The research proposal should be submitted early in the research program and should be revised on a regular basis with updates of the research plan and timetable included in an annual report to the CFGS provided by the advisor for each student. A 1-2 page synopsis of the proposed research plan should be attached to the annual review form and submitted to CFGS at the latest by the end of the 2<sup>nd</sup> year in the program.

A successful PhD student is expected to accomplish a line of investigation that leads to one or more first-author quality publications in peer reviewed scientific journals. Specific accomplishments that constitute a defensible dissertation do not conform to any generic metric. Suitability is determined by the GS Advisory Committee and the student, emphasizing the importance of regular and open communication within the group.

## **B. Graduate Studies Advisory Committees**

- 1. **GS Advisory Committee:** Assembling the GS Advisory Committee is an extremely important part of the graduate student's program and should be formed by the end of the student's first year in the program. The GS Advisory Committee shall consist of the student's advisor (must be Graduate Faculty Category P) and at least 3 Graduate Faculty members (Category M or P). The Graduate School may be petitioned to allow one non-Graduate Faculty member to participate on a student's committee. This committee must officially approve both the student's academic plan and research plan.
- 2. Candidacy Examination Committee: The Advisor will be Chairperson. The Committee consists of the GS Advisory Committee and must have at least four Graduate Faculty members. Students who have a non-Graduate Faculty member on their GS Advisory Committee, must select an additional Graduate Faculty member (Category M or P) to serve on the Candidacy Examination Committee. Students may also include an additional faculty member, suggested by the

Advisor and/or the CFGS, who is not in the research focus area of the advisor to insure the general nature of the examination.

**3. Final Oral Examination Committee:** The members of the Final Oral Examination Committee include the Advisor who serves as chairperson, the other members of the GS Advisory Committee and the Graduate School Representative.

## C. Course Work & Progress Towards Degree

#### 1. Academic Standards

A 3.0 minimum cumulative point hour ratio must be maintained. Additional details and rules regarding probation, change of status and/or dismissal if the standards are not met are in The Graduate School Handbook.

#### 2. Credit Hours

- a) A minimum of 80 graduate credit hours beyond the baccalaureate degree are required to earn a doctoral degree. Of this, 24 credit hours must be completed at The Ohio State University after the master's degree has been earned or after the first 30 hours of graduate credit have been completed.
- b) Of these, 10 credit hours must be graded (A-E) graduate level courses. Out of these, a maximum of 5 credits can be earned from 7193.02 and only 2 such credits can be earned in any single semester.
- c) If a master's degree has been earned at Ohio State, at least 50 graduate credit hours must be completed beyond the master's degree. A student who has earned a master's degree from another institution may petition the Graduate School for transfer of up to 30 hours of course credit pending approval of the CFGS. New students should work with their advisor and the Graduate Program Coordinator to complete the necessary paperwork in order to transfer the appropriate graduate credit. The GS Advisory Committee must approve the student's requests for transfer credits
- d) When a doctoral student has completed a master's degree at Ohio State and earned graduate credit in excess of the minimum required for that degree, the student's advisor, with the approval of the CFGS, can notify the Graduate School of the courses to be counted towards the 80 credit hours required for the PhD degree. This notification must occur no later than the end of the first semester of the enrollment beyond completion of the master's degree.
- e) Students with fellowships or other awards that support full time training must be registered as full time students for three semesters of the year.
- f) Registration for at least 3 credit hours is required during each of the following semesters:
  - i. Semester of the Candidacy Exam.
  - ii. Semester of the Final Oral Examination (i.e., Dissertation Defense).

- iii. Semester in which graduation is expected.
- **3. Annual Review:** Students will be evaluated for reappointment based on progress as documented in online Graduate Student Annual Report and Review process that takes place each December.

#### 4. Time Limit

- a) Full-time students are expected to complete their Candidacy Examination no later than at the end of the 6th semester or 2nd year of enrollment in the PhD program. Students participating in a residency program must pass their Candidacy Examination by the end of the 9th semester or 3rd year. If the student enters the PhD program at the conclusion of a master's program at Ohio State, the Candidacy Examination should be taken by the end of the 3rd semester in the PhD program. The CFGS must approve exceptions to these schedules for the Candidacy Examination. CVM funding for student's tuition and fees will not be considered if the candidacy exam is delayed past the recommended schedule. The normal time-to-degree is about five years. Funding for students' tuition and fees cannot be guaranteed beyond the fifth year.
- b) The dissertation and final oral examination must be completed within 5 years after admission to candidacy. If a student fails to submit a final copy of the dissertation to the Graduate School within the 5 years of being admitted to candidacy, with the approval of the adviser and CFGS, the student must take a Supplemental Candidacy Examination as outlined in the Graduate School Handbook.

#### 5. Required Course Work

- a) All students in the CVM Graduate Program will be required to successfully complete (grade of B or better) 2 credit hours of graduate level statistics.
- b) All CVM PhD students (no matter their research laboratory location) and PhD students conducting research in the College of Veterinary Medicine research laboratories that are affiliated with other graduate programs are required to enroll in the college-wide Graduate Student Seminar Course (VETPREV 8891) Autumn and Spring semesters when the student does not have another course, essential to her/his graduate program which conflicts. Graduate students in CVM labs who are affiliated with other graduate programs and required to enroll and present in other research seminar(s) may request a waiver to enroll in VPM 8891. Any such conflict or request to waive enrollment should be communicated by email to the CVM Graduate Program Coordinator prior to the first seminar of the semester. All PhD students are expected to present two seminars in this course after passing their candidacy examination - one 20 minute seminar (usually the term of the candidacy exam); and one 40 minute seminar (usually the term of graduation). This seminar may be a presentation and discussion of a research proposal, preliminary data or the final results of his or her research.

- c) Advanced course work is required (7000 level or above) in the student's area of research focus. The student and advisor in consultation with the GS Advisory Committee will plan these course requirements.
- d) When a graduate student enrolls in a course, they are expected to attend all classes, participate fully in lectures and laboratory exercises, and complete all projects and reports on time.
- **6. Transfer Degree Requirement:** A minimum of 24 graduate credit hours must be completed at The Ohio State University after the master's degree has been earned or after the first 30 hours of graduate credit have been completed.
- 7. Continuous Enrollment Policy: All students who successfully complete the doctoral candidacy examination will be required to be enrolled in every semester of their candidacy (summer session excluded) until graduation. Students must be enrolled for at least three credits per semester. Refer to the Graduate School Handbook, Section 7.8, for details regarding this policy, non-enrollment; leave of absence, and reinstatement conditions.
- 8. **Deactivation:** Enrollment eligibility for a pre-candidacy doctoral student who has not registered in the Graduate School within the preceding two years will be automatically deactivated. To reenroll the student must petition the CFGS as outlined in the Graduate School Handbook. Eligibility for doctoral students who have passed the candidacy exam is automatically deactivated at the end of the five-year candidacy period if they have not graduate by then.

## D. The Candidacy Examination

#### 1. Description and Purpose

Before admission to candidacy for the PhD, each student is required to pass a comprehensive written and oral Candidacy Examination to determine his/her knowledge in a chosen field of specialization and related subjects and his/her ability to pursue independent research. A Candidacy Examination Committee approved by the Graduate School will conduct the examination. At the end of the semester in which the Candidacy Examination is satisfactorily completed, the student is admitted to candidacy for the doctoral degree.

The purpose of the candidacy examination is to demonstrate a suitably high level of intellectual achievement around the focus of the dissertation area of specialization based on research and graduate courses.

## 2. Requirements

Requirements to be fulfilled before scheduling the formal parts of the Candidacy Examination

- a) Selection of a GS Advisory Committee and Candidacy Examination Committee.
- b) Completion of program and research focus, graded course requirements.

- c) Maintenance of at least a 3.0 (B) or greater graduate cumulative point hour ratio.
- d) Registration for at least 3 credit hours during semester in which the Candidacy Examination is taken.
- e) After successful completion of the Candidacy Exam, students should not register for more than 3 hours per semester until graduation.

#### 3. Candidacy Examination Committee (See B.2 of this chapter)

#### 4. Examination Committee Approval

An electronic Application for Candidacy form must be completed as early as possible in the semester in which the Candidacy Examination is planned (<a href="https://gradforms.osu.edu">https://gradforms.osu.edu</a>). This form is to be completed before the student begins the written portion of the Candidacy Examination. The form must be completed as a mechanism to allow the advisor and the student to submit for approval by the Graduate School the names and appointments of the persons on the Candidacy Examination Committee and the proposed date, time, and place of the examination. The Oral Examination must be scheduled at least two weeks in advance.

#### 5. Format of Written and Oral Examination

#### a) Written Portion

The Candidacy Examination Committee will select the format of the written examination, based on deliberation with the student.

- i. The didactic format consists of a written examination taken within a one-week period, followed by the Oral Examination 7-14 days later. Each member of the Candidacy Examination Committee must submit questions that can be answered within a 4 to 8-hour writing period. The questions set by one Examination Committee member will be assigned each day, with the expectation that the student will return answers the same day. Questions are expected to evaluate intellectual achievement in the dissertation area of specialization based on research and graduate coursework. The questions are not restricted to a single area of interest. Exams may be open or closed book, depending on the Committee's preference.
- ii. A typed copy of all of the written questions and the student's responses must be provided to each member of the Candidacy Examination Committee at least one week before the oral portion. If performance in the written portion is unsatisfactory, the student may waive his or her right to take the oral portion.
- iii. The **grant proposal format** may be preferred by some committees. The written portion of the examination will take the form of a research proposal that is of sufficient quality to be submitted for funding by a national agency. The advisor will be responsible for identifying the format of the grant proposal (NIH, USDA, foundation, other) and the student will

circulate a copy of the request for proposal (or other application guidelines) to the members of the Candidacy Examination Committee.

- (a) The topic of the proposal will be determined by the Candidacy Examination Committee and may be either unrelated to the student's area of dissertation research or focused on the student's dissertation problem. The intent of the Graduate Student Committee is to encourage students to subsequently submit these proposals as predoctoral applications (e.g., K-award).
- (b) In either case, the proposal should include three Specific Aims, with at least two of these aims being novel and innovative aims that are developed by the student, not assigned by the advisor or present in the advisor's existing or pending grant proposals. The student may present up to three potential abstracts for evaluation by the advisor who will assess the appropriateness of each and make a recommendation regarding their suitability.
- (c) A short summary or abstract (not to exceed one page, single-spaced) of the topic and general aims of the proposal is prepared by the student and circulated to the entire Candidacy Examination Committee, which will approve the topic and the proposed specific aims. If not approved, the student will be asked to find another topic or to make major changes to the existing topic, and the process described above is repeated.
- (d) Unacceptable proposals will be those that (a) have previously been written by the student and evaluated by peer review; (b) intentionally duplicate all or part of an existing research proposal; (c) lie outside the general expertise of the committee members.
- (e) Once the committee approves the proposal summary, the student may begin writing the proposal. The student will have 4 weeks in which to prepare and submit the final written proposal, which will be evaluated within 2 weeks of submission. The Candidacy Examination Committee will examine the proposal, as well as the Advisor's current and pending grant proposals to ensure that the proposal is in the student's own words and that 2 or more aims are original and creative. The committee may choose one of these options when evaluating the final written proposal:
  - Triage, or major rewrite (to be submitted within 2 weeks)
  - Revise, changes within the document but not a major rewrite (to be submitted within 1 week)
  - Approve as submitted
- iv. Each committee member must submit a written evaluation of the proposal to the advisor, who will copy all such evaluations to the other members of the committee.

v. Once the committee approves the final version of the written proposal, the student may schedule the Oral Examination.

### b) Oral Portion

- i. The oral examination must be conducted on a high intellectual level, in a systematic fashion that may extend beyond the specifics of the written component of the examination. All members of the Candidacy Examination Committee must be present for the entire oral examination. The exam may not exceed 2 hours. It is expected that the Committee will evaluate the candidate immediately after the exam.
- ii. After completion, the examination will be analyzed by the Candidacy Examination Committee, in the absence of the candidate. The Committee will briefly address the fairness and rigor of the exam. In the rare case of concern by one or more members, an anonymous vote will be taken to disqualify the exam. The faculty advisor should contact the Graduate School to follow the necessary procedures.
- iii. After discussion, the final satisfactory/unsatisfactory decision is reached by means of a written or oral vote. A unanimous vote that the performance was satisfactory is required for passing the examination.
- iv. Committee members must certify the results of the Candidacy Examination on the electronic Report on Candidacy form within 24 hours after the examination.
- v. The CFGS must similarly be notified of any recommendations of the Candidacy Examination Committee regarding additional work, courses, or future examinations.
- vi. If the results of the examinations are unsatisfactory, the student may be permitted to take a second examination no sooner than the following semester and only if her/his Candidacy Examination Committee recommends it. No candidate is permitted to take the Candidacy Examination more than twice.

### E. Research Program

#### 1. Dissertation

a) Electronic Application to Graduate Form A student must be registered for at least three credit hours and must submit the Application to Graduate form to the Graduate School no later than the third Friday of the semester in which graduation is expected (<a href="https://gradforms.osu.edu">https://gradforms.osu.edu</a>). The application is valid for that semester only. The student must have met all other requirements for graduation by the end of that semester, including payment of all graduation fees. The student, the

- advisor and the CFGS Chairperson must sign the form. The names of the Final Oral Examination members must be listed on the form.
- b) The dissertation is a scholarly contribution to knowledge in the area of Comparative Biomedical Sciences. It generally is comprised of a compilation of manuscripts, which have been prepared for submission for publication in scientific journals in the area of research focus. Information about acceptable formats for the dissertation is available in the Graduate School. The format must be approved by the advisor and be consistent with Graduate School guidelines.
- c) The student must submit a complete, word-processed dissertation draft to the dissertation committee for review and approval or disapproval. Approving the dissertation draft means that the Dissertation Committee members judge it to be of sufficient merit to warrant holding the Final Oral Examination. Each dissertation committee member indicates approval of the dissertation draft by approving the electronic Application for Final Exam form that must be submitted to the Graduate School no later than two weeks before the date of the final oral examination (and no later than four weeks before commencement). After the final oral examination committee has been approved by the Dean of the Graduate School, the electronic Report on Final Examination and electronic Report on Final Document forms are generated by the Graduate School and made available to the committee in GRADFORMS.
- d) A revised draft must be presented to the all members of the Dissertation Committee (including the Graduate Faculty Representative) one week before the Final Oral Examination (which must take place no later than two weeks before commencement). Final approval of the dissertation cannot occur until the Final Oral Examination has been completed satisfactorily. Each Dissertation Committee member indicates approval on the Report on Final Document form in GRADFORMS that must be submitted to the Graduate School no later than one week before commencement.

### 2. Presentation of Seminar on Research

All PhD students are expected to present one open seminar per year. This seminar may be a presentation and discussion of a research proposal, preliminary data or the final results of his or her research. Each PhD candidate is required to present a final defense seminar of the results of his/her dissertation in an open seminar. Whenever possible, this is to be presented prior to the Final Oral Examination/Defense.

### 3. Publication of Research Findings

All PhD students are expected to have at least one first-author research manuscript accepted, in press or published prior to graduation.

### 4. Final Oral Examination

a) The Final Oral Examination tests originality, independence of thought, the ability to synthesize and interpret data, and the quality of research presented.

The examination deals extensively with the portion of the candidate's field of specialty in which the dissertation falls, though it need not be confined exclusively to the subject matter of the dissertation. A complete list of policies and rules for the Final Oral Examination are published in the Graduate School Handbook and are summarized below.

- b) The members of the Final Oral Examination Committee include the Advisor who serves as chairperson, the members of the Dissertation Committee who are usually the GS Advisory Committee for that student, and the Graduate School Representative (appointed by the Dean of the Graduate School).
- c) The student initiates the Application for Final Exam in GRADFORMS, to notify the Graduate School of the names of the committee members and the proposed time and place of the exam.
- d) Once the Final Oral Examination has been scheduled, the Dean of the Graduate School appoints a Category P Graduate Faculty member to serve as the Graduate School Representative. The Graduate School Representative must receive a copy of the dissertation draft no later than one week prior to the examination date. If the representative judges the dissertation to be unsatisfactory, the adviser and Dean of the Graduate School must be so informed at least one day before the examination. After consulting with the students and the dissertation committee members, the advisor may elect to hold the examination as scheduled or postpone it until the situation is resolved.
- e) Attendance at the Final Oral Examination will be restricted to the student, members of the Final Oral Examination Committee and the Graduate School Representative. However, the closed Final Oral Examination may be preceded by an open seminar not to exceed one hour. The open seminar is not a part of the examination and does not require attendance by the Graduate School Representative. The closed final examination should be approximately two hours in length. The Graduate School Faculty Representative reports on the fairness of the conduct of the examination and its conformity to Graduate School rules to the Policy and Standards Committee of the Council on Research and Graduate Studies.
- f) The Advisor is responsible for certifying the results of the Final Oral Examination (Report on Final Examination in GRADFORMS). The student is considered to have completed the Final Oral Examination successfully when there is no more than one vote of unsatisfactory by the Final Oral Examination Committee. Each examiner indicates judgment by signing the Final Oral Examination Report. In the event of an unsatisfactory judgment, the Final Oral Examination Committee must decide whether the student will be permitted to take a second Final Oral Examination in this Program and must record that decision on the Final Oral Examination Report. If a second exam is held, the Final Oral Examination Committee must be the same as the original one, unless substitution is approved by the Dean of the Graduate School. A student whose performance is recorded as unsatisfactory on a

- second attempt is no longer eligible to be a doctoral candidate at this university. On written appeal by the student or a member of the Final Oral Examination Committee, the Graduate School Grievance Committee reviews the examination to insure its conformity to Graduate School rules and to determine if it was conducted fairly and without prejudice to the student.
- g) Final approval of the student's dissertation cannot occur until the Final Oral Examination has been completed satisfactorily. Each Dissertation Committee member indicates approval on the Report on Final Document form in GRADFORMS no later than one week before commencement. The advisor signs the title page of the final copy of the dissertation. One copy of the dissertation must be submitted to the Graduate School no later than one week before commencement. An abstract of 350 words or less must be submitted with the dissertation.

### F. Teaching Opportunities

Teaching is a unique opportunity to fortify formal training and to gain the self-confidence necessary for future academic growth. Students with a graduate assistantship may be assigned to assist in departmental core or elective courses in the CVM. Teaching assignments to a core course will be made by faculty course leaders in consultation with the department Chairperson and the advisor.

NOTE: University policy prohibits graduate students from receiving credit for graduate courses taught by graduate students.

# CHECKLIST: DOCTORAL DEGREE PROCEDURES AND REQUIREMENTS FOR GRADUATION

Listed below are the procedures and the requirements of the Graduate School for earning a doctoral degree from The Ohio State University. For more information see the most current version of the Graduate School Handbook.

	Satisfactorily complete the Candidacy Examination and all associated forms.
	Register and enroll for at least three credit hours during the semester in which the
	Final Oral Examination is taken <u>and</u> in which graduation is expected.
	Submit an electronic Application to Graduate form to the Graduate School no later
	than the third Friday of the semester in which graduation is expected.
	Complete a minimum of 80 graduate credit hours, at least 50 of which were
	completed beyond the master's degree. (For a master's degree earned at another
_	institution to count toward the 80 hours, it must be officially transferred.)
Ц	Complete a minimum of 24 graduate credit hours at this university, 10 of which are graded (A-E), graduate level courses.
	Earn a graduate cumulative point hour ratio of at least 3.0.
	Present in the Graduate Student Seminar course (VETPREV 8891) at least twice
	following candidacy
	Have one first-author manuscript accepted, in press or published in a peer-reviewed
	scientific journal.
	Submit the electronic Application for Final Exam form no later than 2 weeks prior to
	the Final Oral Examination.
	Satisfactorily complete the Final Oral Examination.
	Submit the following no later than one week before commencement:
	☐ the approved dissertation
	☐ two abstracts
	☐ the Survey of Earned Doctorates form
	Pay doctoral hood, microfilming, and binding fees and copyright fee no later than
	one week before commencement. Fees will appear on the Statement of Account in
	buckeyelink.
	Receive final grades in the Graduate School by the deadline published in the Master
	Schedule of Classes and have final grades for all previous graduate coursework
	taken.
	Complete the CVM Graduate Program Review Form found in Appendix I.
If v	you find that you will not be able to complete the requirements within the
_	adlines you must notify the Graduate School, CFGS, and the CVM Graduate
	ogram Coordinator.

## **Chapter 6. Combined Degree Program**

- A Combined degree student is a student who is concurrently registered in the College of Veterinary Medicine (DVM degree) and the Graduate School (MS degree).
- 2. The first year of veterinary medical curriculum must be completed before becoming eligible for dual enrollment. Minimum grade requirements are a 3.0 cumulative point-hour ratio for all previous undergraduate work and 3.3 in the veterinary curriculum.
- 3. Additional admission requirements for the combined professional/graduate program are 1) an earned baccalaureate or its equivalent, and 2) identified a faculty member willing to serve as a graduate advisor 3) submit a tentative course plan for the graduate degree as a part of their admission package, clearly indicating which courses are to be considered towards the DVM, MS or both degrees (see section E. below).
- **4.** Students who entered the DVM program after 3 years of undergrad schoolwork and obtained early admission to veterinary school will be considered on a case-by-case basis.
- 5. The student must receive written permission from the Office of Student Affairs of the CVM in addition to acceptance by the Graduate School for admission to this program. The student will be expected to maintain the academic standards of the CVM and the Graduate School for studies in each respective program.
- **6.** Up to 6 credit hours of letter-graded courses approved for both professional and graduate credit may, with the approval of the student's advisor, be applied toward the MS degree. The remaining 24 hours are distributed in the same manner as for other MS students. A minimum of 10 hours of formal graded graduate course work is required.
- 7. If the student already has an MS and is pursuing a DVM/PhD, up to 20 hours of approved graduate credit courses may be applied toward the PhD degree. The remaining credit hour requirements are the same as for other PhD student requirements.
- 8. In order to fulfill the requirements of the degree, the student must accomplish a line of investigation that leads to one or more quality publications submitted to peer reviewed scientific journals. It is normally expected that this publication will be first-authored by the student. Specific accomplishments that constitute a defensible thesis do not conform to any generic metric. Suitability is determined by the graduate advisory committee and the student, emphasizing the importance of regular and open communication within the group.

## Chapter 7. Transfer into CVM Graduate Program

### A. Eligibility

Precandidacy graduate students enrolled and in good academic standing in other graduate programs at Ohio State may apply to transfer to the College of Veterinary Medicine Program.

### **B. Admission Procedures**

### 1. Procedures

- a) Complete a Request for Transfer of Graduate Program Form through the Graduate School.
- b) Send a Letter of Intent to the CFGS Chairperson. The letter should describe the applicant's background, motivation to transfer into the CVM Graduate program, current interests, and future professional goals.

### 2. Entrance Requirements

- a) A cumulative grade point hour ratio of 3.3 on a scale of 4.0 for current graduate coursework.
- b) Applicants are not required to submit official GRE scores to be considered for admission, unless the applicant's undergraduate GPA is below 3.3. If an applicant's GPA is below a 3.0, they will be required to submit official GRE scores with their application. Applicants who submit GRE scores should have a minimum GRE with a verbal score higher than the 25th percentile and a quantitative score at or greater than the 50th percentile. These requirements may be adjusted and applicants should contact the CFGS chair or Graduate Program Coordinator for updates. If the student has a GPA below a 3.0 and has not taken the GRE, a letter may be submitted to the CFGS to waive the requirement. This must be submitted to the CFGS prior to final approval of admittance to the Graduate Program. Old scores are acceptable provided that they were used to enter another graduate program at Ohio State.
- c) Foreign applicants must also meet the Graduate School Admissions requirements for the Test of English as a Foreign Language (TOEFL) (currently 550 for the paper-based TOEFL, 213 for the computer-based test and 79 for IBT). Old scores are acceptable provided that they were used to enter another graduate program at Ohio State.
- d) A letter of support from a member of the CVM Graduate Faculty willing to serve as the student's advisor. The letter should be on official letterhead and indicate the source of stipend and laboratory resource support and indicate

- the willingness of the faculty member to serve as the primary advisor for the student.
- e) Two additional letters of support are required from those individuals familiar with the applicant.

# **Chapter 8. Appendices**

- A. Grievance Procedures
- **B. Suggested Graduate Courses**
- C. Graduate Faculty
- **D. MPH Course Information**
- E. Leave Form & Leave Policy
- F. Useful Links
- **G. Graduate Student & Faculty Advisor Memorandum of Understanding**
- H. Comparative Biomedical Sciences Graduate Program Review Exit Survey Form

### **Appendix A: Grievance Procedures Guidelines**

Open, early and frequent communications among graduate student, advisor and GS Advisory Committee member are key to successful progression through any graduate degree program. The Chair of the CFGS, Department Chair, Associate Dean for Research and Graduate Studies, and residency program coordinator (when applicable) are additional guidance resources.

Evidence of appropriate progress for the current stage in the program must be documented during required annual, but preferably biannual Graduate Advisory Committee meetings. In addition, MS students are expected to graduate within 3 years, and PhD students must complete their candidacy examination within 1-2 years of joining a research laboratory. In the event that a graduate student fails to make appropriate progress for the given stage of the program, the candidacy examination is not completed successfully within 2 years of a joining a laboratory, and/or a graduate student changes advisors, the graduate student is placed on probation. The graduate student will meet with the Chair of the CFGS, Department Chair, Associate Dean for Research and Graduate Studies, the advisor, and residency program coordinator (when applicable) to develop a plan for corrective action, including expectations and timelines, as necessary. Failure to follow the corrective action plan may result in termination.

The Graduate School is specifically authorized by the Graduate Council to review grievances related to graduate examinations and graduate associate appointments. The Graduate School Handbook outlines the process for the systematic review of grievances filed by graduate students related to graduate examinations and graduate associate appointments. The aim of the guidelines is to ensure that a graduate student who is unable to resolve a dispute over a graduate examination or a GA appointment locally has access to a review by a knowledgeable group of neutral faculty and graduate students who are not associated with the student's graduate program or appointing unit or who in any other way have a conflict of interest.

The Graduate School is occasionally called upon to address a complaint by a graduate student related to other academic matters. The Graduate School becomes involved in such matters only after all reasonable local efforts to resolve the problem have failed. In accordance with university policy, complaints of harassment, sexual or otherwise, and allegations of scholarly misconduct are directed to the appropriate offices authorized to address them.

The Guidelines for Student Grievances that are brought before the Graduate School are outlined in detail in the Graduate School Handbook, Appendix D. Students and faculty are encouraged to review those guidelines should the need arise.

# **Appendix B: Suggested Graduate Courses**

### **Course Requirements**

### **Doctoral degree**

- 80 credit hours total
- Transfer credit up to 30 h (CFGS approval required)
- Research seminar (VETPREV 8891)—required each semester unless it conflicts with another class
- Research
  - 7193.01 prior to the candidacy examination
  - 8999 after the candidacy examination
- 10 hours of formal, didactic, letter graded, graduate course work (marked as "G" in the Ohio State class listing system)
- 2 hours of graduate level statistics completed with a grade of "B" or better
- Completion of the CITI Online RCR Training course

These should be completed prior to the candidacy examination.

### Master's degree

- 30 credit hours total
- Research seminar (VETPREV 8891)
- Research (7193.01)
- 10 hours of formal, didactic, letter graded, graduate course work (marked as "G" in the Ohio State class listing system)
- 2 hours of graduate level statistics completed with a grade of "B" or better
- Completion of the CITI Online RCR Training course

Note: for Combined Degree (DVM/MS) students, 6 credit hours approved for both graduate and professional credit may be applied towards the MS.

Specific details about call numbers, meeting times, and course availability can be found by consulting the Master Schedule at <a href="http://www.buckeyelink.osu.edu">http://www.buckeyelink.osu.edu</a>.

### **STATISTICS COURSES**

The following courses will qualify to meet the 2-hour statistics requirement if completed with a grade of B or better

VETCLIN 8783	Experimental Design & Data Analysis in Veterinary & Comparative Medicine I	1 credit
VETCLIN 8784	Experimental Design & Data Analysis in Veterinary & Comparative Medicine II	1 credit
MOLGEN 5650	Analysis and Interpretation of Biological Data (U)	3 credits
STAT 6910	Applied Statistics I	4 credits
STAT 5301	Intermediate Data Analysis I	4 credits
PUBHBIO 6210	Design and Analysis of Studies in the Health Sciences I	3 credits
PUBHBIO 6211	Design and Analysis of Studies in the Health Sciences II	3 credits
PUBHBIO 6270	Introduction to SAS for Public Health Students	2 credits
PUBHBIO 7194	Group Studies in Biostatistics	1 credit
PUBHBIO 7220	Applied Logistic Regression	3 credits
PUBHBIO 7230	Applied Longitudinal Data Analysis	3 credits
PUBHBIO 7235	Applied Survival Analysis	3 credits
ANIMSCI 7000	Applied Biometrics	3 credits

# **Appendix C: CVM Graduate Faculty**

Name	Email Address	Category
Turi Kenna Aarnes	aarnes.1@osu.edu	M
Lapo Alinari	alinari.1@osu.edu	P
Carlos Ernest Alvarez	alvarez.73@osu.edu	P
Amal Amer	amer.13@osu.edu	P
Andréia Gonçalves Arruda	arruda.13@osu.edu	P
Candice Askwith	askwith.1@osu.edu	P
Robert A Baiocchi	baiocchi.1@osu.edu	P
Lauren Bakaletz	bakaletz.1@osu.edu	P
Richard Michael Bednarski	bednarski.1@osu.edu	M
Valerie Kay Bergdall	bergdall.1@osu.edu	M
Amanda M Berrian	berrian.4@osu.edu	M
Alicia Louise Bertone	bertone.1@osu.edu	P
Bradley W Blaser	blaser.4@osu.edu	M
Andrew S Bowman	bowman.214@osu.edu	P
Prosper N Boyaka	boyaka.1@osu.edu	Р
Christopher Kane Breuer	breuer.6@osu.edu	Р
Mary Jo Burkhard	burkhard.19@osu.edu	P
Teresa Burns	burns.402@osu.edu	M
Julie Kathleen Byron	byron.7@osu.edu	M
Cynthia Ann Carnes	carnes.4@osu.edu	Р
Brittney Carson	carson.402@osu.edu	M
William Edgar Carson	carson.77@osu.edu	Р
Heather Chandler	chandler.111@osu.edu	Р
Long-Sheng Chang	chang.22@osu.edu	Р
Thomas Cherpes	cherpes.1@osu.edu	Р
Dennis James Chew	chew.1@osu.edu	М
Steven K Clinton	clinton.8@osu.edu	Р
David Cohn	cohn.30@osu.edu	Р
Lynette Kay Cole	cole.143@osu.edu	М
Edward S. Cooper	cooper.1697@osu.edu	М
Estelle Cormet-Boyaka	cormet-boyaka.1@osu.edu	Р
Kara Corps	corps.2@osu.edu	М
Marco Antonio Coutinho da Silva	coutinho-da-silva.1@osu.edu	Р
Ronaldo Casimiro da Costa	dacosta.6@osu.edu	Р
lan C Davis	davis.2448@osu.edu	Р
Patricia Marie Dennis	dennis.129@osu.edu	M
Sandra F Diaz Vergara	diaz.57@osu.edu	M
Dubraska Diaz-Campos	diaz-campos.1@osu.edu	M
Edward Eugene Dodson	dodson.39@osu.edu	P
Sushmitha Sekhar Durgam	durgam.3@osu.edu	 M
Jonathan Dyce	dyce.1@osu.edu	M
David C. Flanigan	flanigan.31@osu.edu	M
Mark Shannon Flint	flint.71@osu.edu	M
Carrie L Freed	freed.36@osu.edu	M

Name	Email Address	Category
Dah-Renn Fu	fu.977@osu.edu	M
Ramesh Ganju	ganju.1@osu.edu	Р
Rebecca Garabed	garabed.1@osu.edu	Р
Alison K Gardner	gardner.300@osu.edu	M
Ramiro Garzon	garzon.2@osu.edu	Р
Wondwossen A Gebreyes	gebreyes.1@osu.edu	Р
Andreia Goncalves Arruda	arruda.13@osu.edu	M
Eric D Gordon	gordon.46@osu.edu	M
Renukaradhya Gourapura	gourapura.1@osu.edu	Р
Patrick Lee Green	green.466@osu.edu	Р
Eric Michael Green	green.689@osu.edu	М
John Gunn	gunn.43@osu.edu	Р
Amy Maria Habing	habing.3@osu.edu	М
Gregory Georg Habing	habing.4@osu.edu	Р
Vanessa Hale	hale.502@osu.edu	М
Luanne Hall-Stoodley	hall-stoodley.1@osu.edu	М
Ashley Christine Hechler	hechler.5@osu.edu	М
Jiwoong Her	her.22@osu.edu	М
Judy Marie Hickman-Davis	hickman-davis.2@osu.edu	М
Armando Eduardo Hoet	hoet.1@osu.edu	Р
Eric Travis Hostnik	hostnik.1@osu.edu	М
Laura Dunbar Hostnik	hostnik.2@osu.edu	М
James P Howard	howard.832@osu.edu	М
Brian David Husbands	husbands.2@osu.edu	М
Nongnuch Inpanbutr	inpanbutr.1@osu.edu	Р
Daral J Jackwood	jackwood.2@osu.edu	Р
Ryan Jennings	jennings.398@osu.edu	М
Sheryl Sue Justice	justice.133@osu.edu	Р
Uladzimir Karniychuk	karniychuk.1@osu.edu	Р
Scott P Kenney	kenney.157@osu.edu	Р
Justin Kieffer	kieffer.22@osu.edu	М
Nina Kieves	kieves.1@osu.edu	М
Sanggu Kim	kim.6477@osu.edu	Р
Lawrence S. Kirschner	kirschner.14@osu.edu	Р
William C Kisseberth	kisseberth.2@osu.edu	Р
Susan Elaine Knoblaugh	knoblaugh.1@osu.edu	М
Michael Knopp	knopp.16@osu.edu	Р
Jesse John Kwiek	kwiek.2@osu.edu	Р
Jeffrey Lakritz	lakritz.1@osu.edu	P
Catherine Langston	langston.35@osu.edu	M
Janis Lapsley	lapsley.4@osu.edu	M
Phillip Lerche	lerche.1@osu.edu	M
Dean Lee	lee.7991@osu.edu	Р
Haichang Li	li.3714@osu.edu	 P
Jianrong Li	li.926@osu.edu	<u>.</u> P
M. Leanne Lilly	lilly.136@osu.edu	 M
Minggun Lin	lin.427@osu.edu	M
<del>U</del> I		

Name	Email Address	Category
Shan-Lu Liu	liu.6244@osu.edu	Р
Gwendolen Lorch	lorch.2@osu.edu	M
Joseph W Lozier	lozier.29@osu.edu	M
Raphael A Malbrue	malbrue.2@osu.edu	M
Namal Malimbada Liyange	malimbadaliynage.1@osu.edu	Р
Antoinette Elisa Marsh	marsh.2061@osu.edu	Р
Margaret Ann Masterson	masterson.2@osu.edu	M
Jerome Masty	masty.1@osu.edu	M
Michelle E Matusicky	matusicky.1@osu.edu	М
Joel L Mayerson	mayerson.5@osu.edu	М
Mary Ann McLoughlin	mcloughlin.1@osu.edu	М
Dana Marie McTigue	mctigue.2@osu.edu	М
Stacey Marie Meeker	meeker.79@osu.edu	М
Anne J. Gemensky Metzler	metzler.134@osu.edu	М
Eric J Miller	miller.5218@osu.edu	М
Christopher Montgomery	montgomery.1045@osu.edu	Р
Sarah Anne Moore	moore.2204@osu.edu	М
Tatiana Motta	motta.13@osu.edu	М
Margaret Childs Mudge	mudge.3@osu.edu	М
Natarajan Muthusamy	muthusamy.1@osu.edu	Р
Meisam Naeimi Kararoudi	naeimikararoudi.1@osu.edu	М
Georgina M Newbold	newbold.16@osu.edu	М
Andrew John Niehaus	niehaus.25@osu.edu	М
Stefan Niewiesk	niewiesk.1@osu.edu	Р
Jacqueline Nolting	nolting.4@osu.edu	М
Eugene Oltz	oltz.4@osu.edu	Р
Jeanette O'Quin	oquin.4@osu.edu	М
Tatiana Maria Oberyszyn	oberyszyn.1@osu.edu	Р
Michael Jerl Oglesbee	oglesbee.1@osu.edu	Р
Amanda Robinson Panfil	panfil.6@osu.edu	Р
Valerie Jill Parker	parker.888@osu.edu	М
Mark Edward Peeples	peeples.15@osu.edu	Р
Risa R Pesapane	pesapane.1@osu.edu	М
Laura Pomeroy	pomeroy.26@osu.edu	Р
Heather Megan Powell	powell.299@osu.edu	М
Christopher Premanandan	premanandan.1@osu.edu	М
Jessica M Quimby	quimby.19@osu.edu	Р
Amer Rajab	rajab.2@osu.edu	М
Gireesh Rajashekara	rajashekara.2@osu.edu	Р
Parvathi Ranganathan	ranganathan.22@osu.edu	М
Jaylyn Durham Rhinehart	rhinehart.34@osu.edu	М
Hilary Rice	rice.871@osu.edu	М
Carolina Hugueney Ricco Pereira	riccopereira.1@osu.edu	М
Yasuko Rikihisa	rikihisa.1@osu.edu	Р
Matthew Ringel	ringel.11@osu.edu	Р
Ryan David Roberts	roberts.668@osu.edu	Р
Adam Joseph Rudinsky	rudinsky.3@osu.edu	M
<u></u>	, <u> </u>	

Name	Email Address	Category
Erin E Runcan	runcan.1@osu.edu	M
Linda Jean Saif	saif.2@osu.edu	Р
Thomas J Scharschmidt	scharschmidt.5@osu.edu	M
Karsten E Schober	schober.4@osu.edu	Р
Eric Schroeder	schroeder.257@osu.edu	M
Gustavo Martin Schuenemann	schuenemann.5@osu.edu	Р
Lalit Sehgal	sehgal.51@osu.edu	Р
Laura E Selmic	selmic.1@osu.edu	Р
Ahmad Shabsigh	shabsigh.1@osu.edu	M
Amit Sharma	sharma.157@osu.edu	Р
John David Spencer	spencer.489@osu.edu	M
Jason Stull	stull.82@osu.edu	M
Ramiro Eliseo Toribio	toribio.1@osu.edu	Р
Rebecca Urion	urion.1@osu.edu	M
Anastasia Nickolaevna Vlasova	vlasova.1@osu.edu	Р
Qiuhong Wang	wang.655@osu.edu	Р
Audrey W Wanstrath	wanstrath.8@osu.edu	M
Cody Warren	warren.802@osu.edu	Р
Maxey Lee Wellman	wellman.3@osu.edu	М
Traci Ann Wilgus	wilgus.3@osu.edu	М
Karen G Wimbush	wimbush.4@osu.edu	М
Jenessa A Winston	winston.210@osu.edu	P
Randolph L Winter	winter.159@osu.edu	 M
Thomas Eugene Wittum	wittum.1@osu.edu	P
Daniel John Wozniak	wozniak.1@osu.edu	 P
Kai Xu	xu.4692@osu.edu	 P
Jonathan Arthur Yardley	yardley.8@osu.edu	 M
Page Elizabeth Yaxley	yaxley.1@osu.edu	M

Name	Email Address	Category

# Appendix D: Veterinary Public Health Specialization

An area of specialization identified as Veterinary Public Health is available which could be pursued by students in either the Master of Science or Doctor of Philosophy degree programs. The specialization program would require the student to become proficient in the areas of epidemiology, biostatistics, diseases important to veterinary public health, and veterinary public service by completing the required courses listed below. In addition, the student will complete a 3-week minimum internship in a public health agency, dealing with veterinary public health concerns. The student will also be required to meet all the department's and university's degree requirements.

### **Required Courses:**

VETPREV 7721	Epidemiology of Zoonotic Diseases
VETPREV 7722	Food-Borne Diseases, Food Animal Production Systems, and Food Safety
VETPREV 7723	Biosecurity, Environmental Health, and Other Veterinary Public Health Topics
PUBHBIO 6211	Design and Analysis of Studies in the Health Sciences II
VETPREV 7725	Veterinary Epidemiology and Applied Data Analysis OR
PUBHEPI 7410	Epidemiology II and Lab

### **Electives:**

To be decided between the student and their advisor

Please note that other Graduate Minors and Interdisciplinary Specializations are open to OSU graduate students. This information can be found at <a href="http://www.gradsch.osu.edu/graduate-interdisciplinary-specializations.html">http://www.gradsch.osu.edu/graduate-interdisciplinary-specializations.html</a>.

### **Appendix E: Leave Guidelines**

Leave of Absence (LOA) guidelines and expectations for Graduate Students in the College of Veterinary Medicine

In a rare circumstance over the course of a graduate degree program, a graduate student may encounter a serious personal health condition that requires a leave of absence to care for themselves or a dependent, immediate family member with a serious condition.

A graduate student who has completed two out of three semesters may be considered for a LOA of up to 6 weeks, not more than once in the course of graduate study.

The expectation by the Program is the graduate student and advisor design a tractable plan to protect the graduate student's academic progress during the LOA. Diligent effort is expected to maintain the Graduate student's appointment and stipend support.

Medical documentation is required for a LOA for medical/family reasons.

Graduate Students in staff positions are also bound by the leave balance that they have accumulated and are required to submit Ohio State leave forms.

Residents are also bound by the leave policies established by their respective residency program.

Graduate School Resource http://www.gradsch.ohio-state.edu/appendix-e.html

### **Leave Form for Graduate Students**

# SECTION I. TO BE COMPLETED BY THE STUDENT AND SUBMITTED TO APPOINTING UNIT SUPERVISOR

Student's Appointing Unit:
□ Graduate Associate (GTA, GRA, GAA) □ Fellow □ Trainee □ Short-term absence (generally one to three days; may be up to two weeks in rare circumstances) attach appropriate documentation in sup the request.) □ Personal illness/injury □ Personal serious health condition □ Death in family □ Care for an immediate family member with a serious health condition □ Other (explain): □ Childbirth or adoption □ I certify that the information provided as part of this request is true, accurate, and complete. I understand that a person who, knowingly and with intent to defraud, requests leave using materially false information is guilty of frawhich may result in disciplinary action, including action under the Code of Student Conduct.  Signature/Date - Student: □
may be up to two weeks in rare circumstances)  attach appropriate documentation in sup the request.)  Personal illness/injury  Personal serious health condition  Care for an immediate family member with a serious health condition  Other (explain):  Childbirth or adoption  Dates of Requested Absence: From  I certify that the information provided as part of this request is true, accurate, and complete. I understand that a person who, knowingly and with intent to defraud, requests leave using materially false information is guilty of frawhich may result in disciplinary action, including action under the Code of Student Conduct.  Signature/Date – Student:
□ Death in family □ Care for an immediate family member with a serious health condition □ Other (explain): □ Childbirth or adoption  Dates of Requested Absence: From □ To □ I certify that the information provided as part of this request is true, accurate, and complete. I understand that a person who, knowingly and with intent to defraud, requests leave using materially false information is guilty of frawhich may result in disciplinary action, including action under the Code of Student Conduct.  Signature/Date – Student: □
with a serious health condition  Childbirth or adoption  Dates of Requested Absence: From To I certify that the information provided as part of this request is true, accurate, and complete. I understand that a person who, knowingly and with intent to defraud, requests leave using materially false information is guilty of frawhich may result in disciplinary action, including action under the Code of Student Conduct.  Signature/Date - Student:
Other (explain):  Childbirth or adoption  Dates of Requested Absence: From To I certify that the information provided as part of this request is true, accurate, and complete. I understand that a person who, knowingly and with intent to defraud, requests leave using materially false information is guilty of frawhich may result in disciplinary action, including action under the Code of Student Conduct.  Signature/Date - Student:
I certify that the information provided as part of this request is true, accurate, and complete. I understand that a person who, knowingly and with intent to defraud, requests leave using materially false information is guilty of fra which may result in disciplinary action, including action under the Code of Student Conduct.  Signature/Date – Student:
SECTION II. TO BE COMPLETED BY APPOINTING UNIT SUPERVISOR  Note: In the case of a leave of absence, the following signatures are required: the appointing unit supervisor; the
student's advisor; and the student's graduate studies committee chair. Once a decision has been made, a completed copy of the form should be returned to the student requesting leave.  Action Approved Not approved. Comments (or attach explanation):
Signature/Date - Appointing Unit Supervisor:
Signature/Date (required for leave of absence) - Student's Advisor:
Signature/Date (required for leave of absence) – (Graduate Program Coordinator)

### **SECTION III. DEFINITIONS**

Serious health condition – an illness, injury, impairment, or physical/mental condition that meets any one of the following:

- Involves inpatient care in a hospital, hospice, or residential medical care facility, including any period of incapacity or any subsequent treatment in connection with such inpatient care.
- Continuing treatment by a health care provider that consists of a period of incapacity that also involves treatment multiple times by a health care provider, or treatment at least once by a health care provider that results in a regimen of continuing treatment and continuing incapacity.
- Chronic conditions episodic incapacity (e.g. diabetes, epilepsy), permanent/long-term conditions (e.g. Alzheimer's, cancer) or multiple treatments (e.g. chemotherapy, dialysis)

Immediate family – spouse, domestic partner, mother, father, sister, brother, daughter, son, grandparent, grandchild, mother-in-law, father-in-law, sister-in-law, brother-in-law, daughter-in-law, son-in-law, grandparent-in-law, grandchild-in-law, or corresponding relatives of the graduate student's partner, other persons for whom the graduate student is legally responsible, and anyone who stood *in loco parentis* to the graduate student as a child. To use a leave of absence for the care of a domestic partner or for the corresponding relative of the partner, a completed Affidavit of Domestic Partnership for Funded Graduate Students' Leaves of Absence must be on file with the Graduate School.

### Childbirth/Adoption:

- Birth mother a female who gives birth to a child.
- Father a male who is legally responsible for child rearing as the male spouse or domestic partner of the birth mother.
- Domestic partner a same- or opposite-sex adult partner who has met the requirements of and has a completed Affidavit of Domestic Partnership on file with the Graduate School.
- Adoptive parent a parent who has taken a child into one's family, through legal means, to raise as one's own child

### SECTION IV. APPOINTING UNIT TRACKING REQUIREMENTS

By category of GA, trainee, or fellow, appointing units will periodically be asked for the information listed below in order to assess the program; therefore, appointing units should develop procedures and identify personnel to track this information in order to be prepared to respond to these data requests.

- The number of leaves of absence approved and reason for the leave (personal illness, family illness, or childbirth/adoption)
- The length of the approved leaves of absence
- The number of leaves of absence not approved and reasons why

## **Appendix F: Useful Links**

<u>http://www.buckeyelink.osu.edu/</u>
For students, a one-stop destination for essential Ohio State resources and services

https://www.gradsch.ohio-state.edu/ The Graduate School homepage: links to many forms & policies necessary as students work towards their degrees

http://www.gradadmissions.osu.edu/ The Office of Graduate Admissions

http://www.ureg.ohio-state.edu/ourweb/more/content/bigcal.html Academic Calendar

http://oia.osu.edu/ Office of International Affairs

http://www.osp.osu.edu/ Ohio State Office of Sponsored Programs

www.ets.org Registration information for GRE and TOEFL exam

http://www.vet.ohio-state.edu/research.htm CVM Office of Research and Graduate Studies

# Appendix G: Graduate Student & Faculty Advisor Memorandum of Understanding



Office of Research and Graduate Studies

Graduate Student & Faculty Advisor Memoran	dum of Understanding	
Student name:	Date:	

**Faculty Advisor:** 

College:

**Department:** 

I acknowledge that I have the primary responsibility for the successful completion of my degree. I will seek guidance from my faculty/research advisor, career counseling services, dissertation committee, other advisors and mentors, and any other resources available for advice on career plans. I understand my obligation is to abide by section H.3 of the Graduate School Handbook and the following and will...

- Be committed to my graduate education and will demonstrate this by my efforts in the classroom and in research settings
- Acknowledge that being a graduate student is a full time effort that often entails unconventional or flexible hours and necessitates my presence in the laboratory and making forward progress on my project in a sustained effort that matches my appointment
- Maintain a high level of professionalism, self-motivation, engagement, curiosity, intellectual honesty and ethical standards
- Meet regularly with my faculty/research advisor and provide him/her with updates on the progress and results of my activities and experiments
- Work with my faculty/research advisor to develop a thesis/dissertation project which will include establishing and maintaining a timeline for each phase of my work
- Work with my faculty/research advisor to select a thesis/dissertation committee
  which I commit to meeting with at least annually, preferably biannually and be
  responsive to their advice and constructive criticism
- Be knowledgeable about and comply with all requirements of the policies of my graduate program, the Graduate School, and institution with both the letter and spirit

- Maintain a detailed, organized, and accurate record of my research as directed by my advisor; I am aware that my original notes and all tangible research data are the property of Ohio State University and original copies must remain with my advisor
- Discuss policies on work hours, that unless agreed upon will be full-time, and I
  will notify/seek approval from my faculty/research advisor of any absences
- Discuss policies on authorship and attendance at professional meetings with my faculty/research advisor
- Work with my advisor to submit all relevant research results that are ready for publication in a timely manner

I hereby acknowledge that have	ve read and understand the co	mmitments
Graduate Student Name	Signature	 Date

I recognize the possibility of conflicts between the interests of my own larger research program and the particular research goals of the graduate student, and will not let my larger goals interfere with the student's pursuit of his/her thesis/dissertation research. I understand my obligation is to abide by section <u>H.4</u> in the Graduate School Handbook and the following and will...

- Be committed to mentoring the graduate student and to his/her education and training in an effort to prepare them as a future member of the scholarly community
- Aim to provide for every graduate student under my supervision an environment that is intellectually stimulating, emotionally supportive and safe
- Address any issues of harassment, hostile work environment or discrimination that might arise as per Ohio State policy
- Be supportive, equitable, accessible, encouraging, and respectful, and foster the graduate student's professional confidence and encourage critical thinking, skepticism and creativity
- Be committed to helping plan and direct the research project of the graduate student, set reasonable and attainable goals, and establish a timeline for completion
- Be committed to meeting with the student on a regular basis and provide resources as appropriate or according to Ohio State University guidelines, in order for him/her to conduct thesis/dissertation research
- Be knowledgeable about, and guide the graduate student through, the requirements and deadlines of his/her graduate program as well as those of the Ohio State University, including course and credit hour requirements as well as human resources guidelines

- Help the graduate student select a thesis/dissertation committee and ensure that this committee meets at least annually, preferably biannually to review the graduate student's progress
- Facilitate the training of the graduate student in complementary skills needed to be a successful researcher; these may include oral and written communication skills, grant writing, lab management, animal and human research policies, the ethical conduct of research, and scientific professionalism
- Encourage the student to seek additional opportunities in career development training
- Discuss authorship policies regarding papers with the graduate student; give credit in an appropriate manner to graduate student contributions to scholarly activity, whether presented at professional meetings, publications, or in applications for grants; and, work with the graduate student to publish his/her work in a timely manner
- Discuss intellectual policy issues with the student in regard to disclosure, patent rights and publishing research discoveries, when they are appropriate
- Encourage the graduate student to attend professional meetings, at least annually for national/international meetings, and make an effort to help him/her secure funding for such activities
- Provide career advice and assist in finding a position for the graduate student following his/her graduation, while providing honest letters of recommendation for his/her next phase of professional development, and being accessible to give advice and feedback on career goals

Lacknowledge that Lam financially responsible for the graduate student's stipped

# Completion of the following section applies specifically to those graduate students appointed as Graduate Research Associates and Fellows:

tive . The
or higher.
duate student's tuition at the graduate program, mber primarily appointed in o apply for CVM tuition ms) which covers lability. Students who are research lab are required arch Day, held annually in

Non-CVM Faculty			
I acknowledge that I am financially responsible for the graduate student's tuition including Instructional Fees and General Fees throughout the graduate program, effective(term/year). As an Ohio State faculty member primarily appointed outside of the College of Veterinary Medicine, I am not eligible for College of Veterinary Medicine tuition support; however, I will provide tuition support through grants or my own TIU program.			
I hereby acknowledge that I ha obligation.	ve read and understar	nd the commitments and financia	
Faculty Advisor Name	Signature	Date	
I hereby acknowledge that I ha	ve read and understar	nd the commitments.	
*Faculty Co-Advisor Name	Signature	Date	

\*In order for a faculty member with program M status to accept a PhD student into their laboratory, they are required to enlist a faculty member with program P status as a coadvisor. The P status co-advisor agrees to be fully engaged with the student's training and will be responsible for fulfilling the mentoring commitments above.

These guidelines are based on the "Mentoring Compact" published by the Graduate Research, Education and Training (GREAT) group of the American Association of Medical Colleges (AAMC), on the IDP (Individual Development Plan) developed by the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology (FASEB), on material developed by the National Postdoctoral Association, and on the Guide to Mentoring Graduate Students, published by the Rackham Graduate School at the University of Michigan. All material is adapted with permission.

# Appendix H: Comparative Biomedical Sciences Graduate Program Review Exit Survey Form

### Purpose:

The purpose of this form is to gather information from students just prior to their graduation in order to provide ongoing graduate program assessment data for use by the College of Veterinary Medicine in periodic reviews of our Comparative Biomedical Sciences Graduate Program. Program assessment is vital in ensuring that we provide a relevant and challenging graduate program.

### Comparative Biomedical Sciences Graduate Program Review Form The Ohio State University College of Veterinary Medicine

This form is completed online at https://gradeval.vet.ohio-state.edu/program-review-form

Responses to the following questions provided by graduate students at the time of their preparation to graduate are designed to provide ongoing graduate program assessment data for use by the College of Veterinary Medicine in periodic reviews of our Comparative Biomedical Sciences Graduate Program. Program assessment is vital in ensuring that we provide a relevant and challenging graduate program.

Student Name:	
Graduate Advisor:	
Degree:	
Academic Term of Graduation:	

Please answer YES or NO AND provide an explanation for each question.

**Learning Goals 1-3:** Graduates will independently and effectively design, conduct and analyze research; develop critical problem solving skills; and, critically review scientific literature.

- 1. Did your graduate experience provide you the necessary background to understand the scientific method?
- 2. Did your graduate experience provide you the necessary background to formulate and conduct original research?
- 3. Do you feel that you can use critical thinking to address problems?
- 4. Are you now able to critically review scientific literature?

**Learning Goal 4:** Graduates will effectively communicate research findings and their significance (in oral and written format) to both scientific and lay audiences.

- 1. Did the program increase your communication skills?
- 2. Which of the following did you find most effective for enhancing your communication skills, and why?
  - a. Lab and/or research group meetings
  - b. VPM 8891, college wide graduate student seminar course
  - c. Regional/national/international scientific meetings
    - i. Attendance
    - ii. Poster/oral presentations

**Learning Goal 5:** Graduate will conduct research ethically.

1. Did you feel you obtained proper education and training in bioethics during your graduate program for a career in biomedical research?

- 2. Did you find the required course in bioethics to be a valuable part of your research training?
- 3. Did you feel that your dissertation research was performed in an ethical manner?
  - a. If not, from your training in bioethics, what benchmark(s) were not met to make you consider that the research was not ethically sound?
  - b. If yes, from your training in bioethics, what benchmark(s) were met to make you consider that the research was ethically sound?

### **Learning Goal 6:** Graduates will exhibit professionalism and leadership.

- 1. Did the program increase your knowledge of professional development and professional activities?
- 2. Do you currently participate in professional societies and activities? Please specify, including any leadership roles.

### **Additional Questions:**

- 1. Did you encounter specific problems as a graduate student?
- 2. How might those problems have been avoided or corrected?
- 3. Were the faculty, staff and administrators helpful and supportive?
- 4. How did you choose this graduate program and your advisor?
- 5. Would you choose graduate work in the Comparative Biomedical Sciences Program if you had to make the choice again? Please explain your response.
- 6. What are your suggestions as to how we might enhance the recruitment of culturally diverse graduate students and be more sensitive to issues of cultural diversity?

- 7. Please make suggestions for improving other aspects of the graduate program.
- 8. What are your immediate career/academic plans now?
- 9. If you are willing to provide, what would be the best way to contact you in the future?